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Contact Us

Head Office

Physical Address 
The Housing Development Agency
Block A, Riviera Office Park
6-10 Riviera Road
Killarney
Johannesburg

Postal Address
PO Box 3209
Houghton
2041

Telephone Number
+27 11 544 1000

Fax Number
+27 11 544 1006/7

Email 
info@thehda.co.za

Website 
www.thehda.co.za

Facebook
@THEHDA

Twitter
@the_hda

Instagram
the_hda

Regional Offices

Western Cape
(021) 481 2900
6th Floor
Pier Place
31 Heerengracht Street
Cape Town
8001

Eastern Cape
(041) 393 2600
63 Worracker Street
Between 6Th And 7Th Avenue
Newton Park
Port Elizabeth
6045

Limpopo
(015) 283 8161
89 Biccard Street
Block B
Millenium Building
(Ground Floor)
Polokwane
0699

Free State
(051) 409 0220
97 Henery Street
Westdene
Bloemfontein
9300

Northern Cape
(053) 830 9531/16
Department of Cooperative Governance
Human Settllements and Traditionall Affairs
9 Cecil Sussman Road
Kimberly
8301

Kwazulu Natal
(031) 335 7300/1
199 Anton Lembede Street
Embassy Building
25th Floor
Durban
4000
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NHBRC National Housing and Building Regulatory Council

TA Transactional Advisors
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MOU Memoranduim of Understanding

IPs Implementation Protocol
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Foreword by the Chairperson

This then saw the Executive Authority assessing the agency’s 
mandate and structure in relation to its establishing Act and 
the Priority Housing Development (PHDA) Policy.  In essence 
the priority housing development area seeks to, “accelerate 
delivery of sustainable human settlements for a broad range
of income groups within an integrated mixed use
development as prioritised in the municipal integrated 
development plan (IDP). To this end the Agency undertook 
extensive work on ensuring that the Catalytic projects 
Programme responds to this expectation. 

As the Board we are pleased that the Executive Authority and 
the Agency are in tandem when it comes to the categorisation 
of the 58 government led catalytic projects in so far as where 
each project is towards full scale delivery. By end of the 
reporting period the government-led catalytic projects had 
achieved the following differentiated development status: 
eight projects at inception stage, 11 at planning stage and 29 
at implementation stage. Twenty-one of the 58 projects have 
undergone transaction advisor assessment (comprehensive 
feasibility).

During the said reporting period the HDA continued to deliver 
on its existing projects on behalf of various provinces. 

The Agency has for the longest period been implementing 
delivery in the N2 gateway mega project on behalf of the 
department of human settlements in the Western Cape. The 
project was meant to be concluded during the incoming 
reporting period but due to impeded progress on certain 
projects, notably Joe Slovo Phase 3 and Boystown; additional 
projects were added to the existing portfolio to compensate 
for the challenges the Agency faced.

The Agency during the reporting period continued its support 
of Gauteng and to this end; it supported the province and its 
municipalities with programme and implementation support. 

In the year under review, the Agency delivered 2 358 
housing units located within the area of jurisdiction of the 
cities of Johannesburg, Tshwane and Ekurhuleni; 3 442 sites 
and services completed from the projects funded by the 
Urban Settlement Development Grant (USDG) and 1 637 
beneficiaries were approved. 6 907 172 hectares of land has 
been acquired for Gauteng Department of Human Settlements 
in the City of Ekurhuleni. Whilst there were increased 
community service delivery protest about human settlements, 
the Agency continued to play a critical role in the value chain.
 
Central to the mandate of the Agency is the acquiring and 
holding of land for the purposes of human settlements 
development. During the reporting period the land holding 
unit managed 24 properties which are 9 992.547 hectares in 
extent. The unit has implemented 100% of the land-holding 
plan to ensure that that the HDA property portfolio is well 

maintained and managed. Furthermore the Agency prides 
itself in assisting municipalities with the processes of rezoning 
land. To this end, HDA facilitated the rezoning of over 1 564 
hectares in various projects in different provinces yielding over 
14 241 stands and/or housing opportunities.  A significant 
numbers of these projects are located within major cities 
such as Johannesburg and Ekurhuleni metros, and secondary 
municipalities like Polokwane and Rustenburg, where the 
demand for housing is very high

As the Board we are pleased with the work the Agency 
delivered in the Nelson Mandela Bay Metro. The SMME 
incubation programme in partnership with NURCHA and the 
NHBRC has indeed proved to be the best way of capacitating 
emerging contractors and position them so that they are able 
to take up economic opportunities within the projects the 
HDA delivers on behalf of the Metro. 

Through the HDA the Metro now has a transparent and 
functioning procurement system that has seen, 58 contractors 
appointed in the financial year, comprising SMMEs (14 
women, 14 youth and 12 general), six established contractors 
(four women, no youth and two general) and 12 trained by 
NHBRC (six women, four youth and two general).

These are just few of the critical milestones as the Board we 
wish to highlight for the reporting period. 

We affirm our support for the CEO and his executive team. 
We acknowledge the operational challenges the Agency faced 
during this reporting period. We commend management for 
remaining diligent in ensuring that all financial planning and 
management controls are being upheld and that governance 
is being taken seriously by the Agency. We are pleased to 
again deliver an unqualified audit opinion of the Agency.

As the Board we also welcomed new members as appointed 
by the Executive Authority. Indeed they have hit the road 
running. Also during the reporting period we welcomed the 
new Minister, Ms Nomaindiya Mfeketo, after changes to the 
Executive of the country, we remained steadfast in the signed 
off mandate and we are encouraged by her leadership since 
her appointment. 

The Agency understands the expectations the Executive 
Authority has of it and is ready to deliver on its incoming 
Annual Performance Plan.

Mr Mavuso Msimang
Chairperson

The Housing Development Agency during the reporting period operated under immense 
pressures as we saw increased community unrest relating to human settlements delivery 
and also the developments around the land expropriation with out compensation
public debate. 
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Mr Mavuso Msimang
Chairman - Non-Executive Director

Mr Pascal Moloi
Chief Executive Officer - Executive Director

Mr Thozamile Botha
Non-Executive Director

Mr Lamla Jiyose
Non-Executive Director

HDA Board
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Non-Executive Director



9 ANNUAL REPORT 2017|2018

Mr Pravin A Singh
Deputy Chairperson - Non-Executive Director

Mr Bryan Chaplog
Acting CFO  - Executive Director

Mr Maanda Mutheiwana
Non-Executive Director

Ms Thuthuka Songelwa
Non-Executive Director



10ANNUAL REPORT 2017|2018

Chief Executive Officer’s Report

M
r 

Pa
sc

al
 M

ol
oi



11 ANNUAL REPORT 2017|2018

During the period under review there were great expectations 
on the HDA by our executive authority. The implementation 
of the catalytic projects programme remained at the centre 
of our annual performance plan. Related to this is the work 
we have begun on the priority housing development areas 
(PHDAs). We have, over the years, delivered sterling work in 
various projects where we had the responsibility of being an 
implementing agent or project manager. 

During this reporting period, and looking at the 2014 to 
2019 MTSF period, the HDA has a land acquisition target of 
10 000.00 hectares. We are very pleased that the 2017/2018 
target of 3 000 hectares was exceeded by 329.446 hectares of 
land. The MTSF target of 10 000 hectares has been exceeded 
by 6 837.3014 with a grand total of 16 837.3014 hectares 
of land achieved during the MTSF period. This has assisted 
us in achieving our land pipeline and we worked very closely 
with other spheres of government and critical state entities to 
identify land for human settlements development as a catalyst 
of economic development. 

Out of the above is the practical realisation of the catalytic 
projects programme as a game changer for the democratic 
spatial planning dispensation. To this end the reporting period 
under review saw the appointment of professional resource 
teams. These teams worked intensely with our provincial 
offices to develop critical paths and project timeframes for 
each of the government led catalytic projects that are on 
the business plans of each province or municipality. We 
can confirm that all the announced 52 projects are up and 
running. For ease of reference we have categorised the 
projects so that all stakeholders are clear on when we will 
“break ground”, install bulk services, and when top structures 
will go up (see page 45).

The expectation from the executive authority that the HDA 
must be the driver of transformation in the sector has 
indeed gained great momentum. We have finalised our 
transformation framework and the incoming reporting period 
will see its implementation. 

Another major deliverable for the Agency during this reporting 
period was the acceleration of delivery in the revitalisation of 
mining towns programme. To this end the Agency signed and 
got five major mining companies to commit to memoranda of 
understanding. This is an achievement because we now have 
a guide as to how the public private partnership will work. 

Our work within the Western Cape and Eastern Cape 
provinces gained momentum. We are proud to have stabilised 
the working environment in the Nelson Mandela Bay region. 
Through a transparent process we put in place a functional 
and equitable work roster for SMMEs. Simultaneously 
we began an incubation programme that has achieved 
commendable results.  

It is a known fact that provinces and municipalities do not 
have to use the services of the HDA, but we are proud of
the relationship we have built with the Western Cape 

Department of Human Settlements. This is a model that has 
worked - not that is has been without challenges but the 
intergovernmental relations and the objective of responding 
to the human settlements demand in the province has indeed 
given us hope that when government institutions work in 
tandem we gain traction. 

We are building relations with other provinces and we 
are proud to say that we have visibility and presence 
now in Mpumalanga. Soon a ground breaking mixed-
use development, in partnership with the Thaba Chweu 
Municipality, will be unveiled. The groundwork and 
institutional arrangements are the highlights for this reporting 
period. Our relations with the Northern Cape have also yielded 
results and as an Agency we are proud of the professional 
capacity we have been able to give to the province. We have 
also grown our footprint in the North West. Great work 
was achieved in Gauteng and their commitment to use the 
HDA as their developer of choice demonstrates that we have 
positioned ourselves very well. 

We continue to excel in our professional support services; the 
work of our GIS unit has proven to be a great resource for 
provinces and municipalities. Our research unit is carving a 
niche for itself as a knowledge driver within the sector.

The Agency has grown in terms of its human resource capacity 
during the reporting period. This is directly linked to the 
repositioning exercise we undertook as we sought to activate the 
developer role. We also received our first ever group of interns 
who will complete their 12-month training at the end of July 
2018. We continue to be committed to our internal financial 
controls and governance principles. We are proud to deliver to 
the Minister an unqualified audit opinion of the Agency.

We are pleased to say the Agency has maintained a positive 
public image that seeks to strengthen public confidence in its 
ability to change the lives of our people. In areas where there 
has been disaster the HDA was called in to assist. 

We present to you Minister, an account that has had 
challenges but has delivered on the agreed targets. Working 
with the board, who are always at hand with their support, 
the EXCO and the entire staff of the HDA we wish to thank 
the DG and his entire team for the cordial working relations. 
We welcomed the current Minister just as we approached 
the end of the reporting period. Her support has been great 
and our heartfelt gratitude goes to her for her astute political 
leadership. 

Indeed, we are ready to respond to the President’s call, Thuma 
Mina, Thuma iHDA! 

Mr Pascal Moloi
Chief Executive Officer

The reporting period 2017-2018 was an eventful one for the HDA. Having to respond 
to the growing pressures around community service delivery protest due to inadequate 
housing or the delay in delivery in various provinces has seen the Agency playing a greater 
role in assisting provinces to meet their statutory obligations. 
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Vision / Mission

Vision Statement 
Vibrant communities, living on well-located land.

Mission Statement
Building partnerships to create integrated and sustainable human settlements.

Guiding Values
The HDA has defined the following guiding values in its operations:

 • Performance-orientated

 • Excellence

 • Accountability

 • Teamwork 

These guiding values are supported by the following principles:

 • Respect

 • Trust

 • Care

 • Integrity

We are pleased to say the Agency has 
maintained a positive public image that seeks 
to strengthen public confidence in its ability to 
change the lives of our people.
Pascal Moloi
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1 Legislative Mandate

The Housing Development Agency (HDA) was established in 2009 in terms of the Housing Development Agency Act No 23 of 2008 
(the HDA Act). The HDA is a Schedule 3A national public entity of the National Department of Human Settlements (NDHS).

1.1 The Housing Development Agency Act No 23 of 2008

The HDA Act no 23 of 2008 outlines the purpose or objects of the HDA as being to:

• Identify, acquire, develop and release land (state, communally and privately-owned) for residential and community purposes 
and for the creation of sustainable human settlements (clause 4(a)).

• Project manage housing development services for the purposes of the creation of sustainable human settlements
(clause 4(b)).

• Ensure and monitor that there is centrally coordinated planning and budgeting of all infrastructure required for housing 
development (clause 4(c)).

• Monitor the provision of all infrastructure required for housing development (clause 4(d)).

In terms of the Act, the HDA is further mandated to do the following:

• The Agency must, in consultation with the relevant owner, identify, acquire, hold, develop and release state, privately and 
communally owned land for residential and community purposes for the creation of sustainable human settlements
(clause 5(1)).

• The Agency must ensure that there is funding for the provision of all infrastructure that is required for housing development 
in which it is involved (clause 5(2)).

• The Agency may offer assistance to an organ of state in order to fulfil its objects. In addition the Minister may, in consultation 
with the relevant MEC – where there is lack of capacity in any organ of state to identify, acquire, hold, develop and release 
land for residential and community purposes for the creation of sustainable human settlements – advise the organ of state to 
conclude an agreement with the Agency to offer assistance in terms of the Agency’s skill and expertise; or direct the Agency 
to engage with the organ of state with a view to concluding an agreement (clause 5(3)). 

Section 7(1) of the Act identifies some 12 functions to be undertaken by the HDA as set out below: 

• Prepare a development plan to be approved by the Minister in consultation with the relevant authorities in the provinces and 
municipalities (7(1) (a)).

• Develop strategic plans with regard to the identification and acquisition of state, privately and communally owned land that 
is suitable for residential and community development (7(1) (b)).

• Prepare the necessary documentation for consideration and approval by the relevant authorities as may be required in terms 
of any other applicable law (7(1) (c)).

• Monitor progress of the development of land and landed property acquired for the purposes of creating sustainable human 
settlements (7(1) (d)).

• Enhance the capacity of organs of state including skills transference to enable them to meet the demand for housing delivery 
(7(1) (e)).

• Ensure that there is collaboration and intergovernmental and integrated alignment for housing development services
(7(1) (f)).

• Identify, acquire, hold, develop and release state, privately and communally owned land for residential and community 
development (7(1) (g)).

• Undertake such project management services as may be necessary, including assistance relating to approvals required for 
housing development (7(1) (h)).

• Contract with any organ of state for the purposes of acquiring land for residential housing and community development for 
the creation of sustainable human settlements (7(1) (i)).

• Assist organs of state in dealing with housing developments that have not been completed within the anticipated project 
period (7(1) (j)).

• Assist organs of state with the upgrading of informal settlements (7(1) (k)).

• Assist organs of state in respect of emergency housing solutions (7(1) (l)).
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The Act indicates that in performing its functions the HDA must: 

• Ensure that residential and community developments are sustainable, viable and appropriately located (7(2)(a)).

• Establish compliance and fraud prevention mechanisms to ensure the integrity of the Agency (7(2)(b)).

• Ensure that job creation is optimised in the process of residential and community development (7(2)(c)).

• Introduce and manage a land inventory and information system (7(2) (d)).

• Ensure that community participation takes place (7(2)(e)).

In terms of Section 5 of the Act, the Minister may authorise the Agency to perform any additional function that is consistent with 
the Act. Furthermore, the Minister, in consultation with various MECs, may direct the Agency to conclude land assembly and/or 
project management agreements with organs of state that lack the capacity to do so.

1.2 Breaking New Ground in housing delivery

Breaking New Ground, 2004, is a comprehensive plan for the development of sustainable human settlements. The document 
outlines the challenges faced by the human settlements sector. 
The plan highlights shifts in the way that sustainable human settlements should be addressed and provides a summary of key 
programmes, highlighting enhancements necessary for successful implementation. Breaking New Ground addresses the manifold 
challenges encountered by the human settlements sector by “utilising housing as an instrument for the development of sustainable 
human settlements, in support of spatial restructuring”. Emphasis is placed on the following:

• The need for better-located mixed-income and mixed-use housing projects by extending the scope of the project-linked 
subsidy programme.

• The need for more diverse housing forms by structuring new programmes, including tackling informal settlement upgrading 
as a recognition of entry into the incremental housing delivery process.

• The need for more attention to social and rental housing as mechanisms to revitalise depressed property markets, including 
the lower-end rental market.

• Accreditation of municipalities with the housing delivery function to effect improved integrated settlement development; and 
linking job opportunities and work creation with housing development processes.

1.3 The National Development Plan

The National Development Plan (NDP) is South Africa’s blueprint development plan. It provides a broad strategic framework to guide 
key policy choices and actions. The plan presents a long-term strategy to foster inclusive growth and development and broaden 
access to basic social services, such as housing, through the active intervention of government via various policy instruments. 

Specific to human settlements, the NDP envisions a revised approach to human settlements, in which the state properly fulfils 
its obligation to provide high-quality public infrastructure and environments, while also supporting and facilitating low-income 
households in acquiring adequate shelter. The following principles are proposed for the implementation of this revised approach: 

• Promotion of mixed housing strategies and more compact urban development.

• Promotion of new spatial norms and standards – densifying cities, improving transport, locating jobs where people live, 
upgrading informal settlements and fixing housing market gaps.

• Promotion of community-based house building, with innovative local inputs in order to expand housing, supplier industries 
and related job creation.

• Stimulate employment through domestically oriented activity in high labour absorbing sectors such as housing construction. 
Construction is identified as a key job driver in both the NDP and the New Growth Path. 

• Upgrading of informal settlements in-situ wherever possible, in recognition of the fact that informal settlements provide the 
poor with affordable access to urban land and housing markets.

1.4 Five-year written mandate between the Minister and the HDA board

Section 8 of the HDA Act requires that a written mandate is concluded between the Minister of Human Settlements and the HDA, 
which sets out the operational and performance indicators against which the performance of the HDA is measured.
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In addition, the mandate designates the following additional functions to be undertaken by the HDA:

• Management of the N2 Gateway Project in the Western Cape Province in terms of the approved business plan and related 
project agreements.

• Management of the Zanemvula Project in the Eastern Cape Province in terms of the approved business plan and related 
project agreements. 

● 
Over and above the mandate, the Minister has additional expectations, as indicated in a number of discussions and presentations. 
The key components of these expectations that directly relate to the HDA are as follows: 

• The HDA will be responsible for the revitalisation programme of 22 mining towns.

• The HDA will be part of a team responsible for identifying and implementing 50 mega projects over the next five years 
(termed catalytic projects). Catalytic projects comprise at least 10 000 housing units and 5 000 informal settlement upgrades. 
The projects must be selected on the basis that they will have a significant impact on the environment.

• N2 Gateway to be refocused as a national priority project. The lessons learnt from the project need to be documented and 
the project closed. 

• A credible housing database covering both housing and land needs to be established.

• The HDA should be restructured so as to become a fully-fledged developer, with the responsibility to not only to acquire and 
prepare land, but to facilitate the development and project management of agreed projects. 

• The HDA is responsible for developing a strategic (master) spatial plan, which will create a framework within which project 
funding will flow. 

1.5 Shareholder compact

The HDA board led by the Chairperson, Mr Mavuso Msimang, on an annual basis signs a shareholder compact between the HDA 
and the Minister of Human Settlements.

1.6 Medium-term strategic framework (2014)

The medium-term strategic framework (2014-2019) (MTSF) mandated the HDA to be directly responsible for the acquisition of
10 000 hectares of well located, publicly owned land and buildings released for human settlement development. This mandate has 
been amended to include facilitation of land for rezoning. In addition, the HDA will be required to contribute towards the provision 
of 1.5 million housing opportunities in quality living environments by 2019, as well as the implementation of 50 catalytic projects.

1 Legislative Mandate continued

A new written mandate between the Minister of Human Settlements and the HDA board is being prepared for signing by the two 
parties. The performance indicators and targets specified in this mandate can be seen in the table below.

Table 1: Performance indicators and targets

Performance indicators Target (MTSF period)

Number of hectares of well-located land released for human settle-
ment development (targeting poor and middle-income households)

10 000 ha

Number of national priority programmes provided with oversight and 
implementation support (mining towns, catalytic projects, NUSP)

Three national programmes supported

Number of provinces supported with HDA services Nine provinces

Develop, implement and maintain an approved Master Spatial Plan 
(MSP) for the human settlements sector

Ongoing
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1.7 Other policy mandates 

The core policy approaches underpinning South Africa’s national housing programme are reflected in the following policy documents 
and legislation and therefore directly impact on the HDA: 

• The Constitution of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996). 

• The Housing Act, 1997 (Act No. 107 of 1997 as amended in 1999 and 2001).

• The Comprehensive Plan ‘Breaking New Ground in Housing Delivery’, National Department of Housing, September 2004. 

• Outcome 8, Sustainable human settlements and an improved quality of household life, 2010 and as amended in 2015.

• The National Development Plan, Vision for 2030, National Planning Commission, November 2011.

During the said reporting period 
the HDA continued to deliver on 
its existing projects on behalf of 
various provinces.
Mavuso Msimang
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2. Overview of Organisational Environment

2.1 Organisational structure

The governance of the HDA is entrusted to a governing board, with the Minister of Human Settlements being the executive authority 
responsible for the Agency. The HDA board is appointed by the Minister of Human Settlements and includes appointees representing 
the Ministries of Cooperative Governance and Traditional Affairs, Public Works, and Rural Development and Land Reform.

To give effect to its mandate, the HDA has revised and restructured its budget programmes as follows:

Figure 1: HDA Board and Sub-Committee Structure
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Figure 2: 2017/18 budget programmes and sub-programmes 

The HDA’s structure reflects the key operational functions, as well as the key support capacity, for 
the effective delivery on the Agency’s mandate.
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3. Overview of Service Delivery Environment

Access to decent, affordable housing is a fundamental human right, enshrined not just in the South Africa’s Constitution, but also in 
the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Beyond affordability, well-located housing enables social and economic 
inclusion by improving access to economic opportunities. The NDP places emphasis on the need to build sustainable communities.
This requires the various government departments responsible for human settlements, water and sanitation, education, roads 
and transport, etc, to plan and implement the housing agenda in a coordinated and aligned manner, thereby improving human 
settlements outcomes.  

National Development Plan - Sustainable Human Settlements

Building sustainable human settlements requires more than bricks and mortar, it requires that the state adhere to principles of 
sustainable development by:

• Reducing the carbon footprint and economic costs of transport for the urban poor by facilitating access to affordable, safe 
and convenient public transport.

• Encourage a holistic approach to low-cost housing developments that include local recreational facilities, retail
opportunities, as well as community, social, and health services.

The macro socioeconomic landscape within which the HDA operates is characterised by a significant backlog in the supply of 
affordable housing units. There is great polarisation between areas of wealth and economic opportunity and the over-crowded and 
under-serviced areas where the majority of the population lives. This polarisation serves to reinforce inequality and burdens poor 
households with the cost of commuting for work, education and other social and economic services. 

This legacy of Apartheid spatial planning that marginalised primarily black communities continues to create challenges in the 
human settlements sector. Exacerbated by the rapid rate of urbanisation and a constrained fiscus, transforming the residential 
spatial landscape through state assisted housing is currently encumbered by the following key challenges, resulting in poor human 
settlements outcomes:

Poor 
Human

Settlment 
Outcomes

Declining Private Sector Supply
Private sector housing supply is declining driven 
primarily by constraints on both the supply and 
demand side. These include inter alia, delays in 
municipal processes (bulk infrastructure etc). 
Delays in municiple planning and proclamation 
approvals leading increases in holding costs, 
Transactional uncertainty (affordablility 
and creditworthiness) Poor muncipal level 
management. Developers often have to take 
over the supply of community services such as 
schools and parks. Lack of affordable mortgage 
finance, and capacity.

Insufficient Public Sector Delivery
The rate of public sector is delivering affordable 
housing does not meet the need. Delivery is 
hampered by delays in land assemvly and project 
packaging, access to affordable, well located land, 
provision of bulk infrastructure, poor management 
of construction contracts and poor administration 
of the title deeds/handover process.

Fragmented Funding Framework
The fragmented funding framework for human 
settlements makes it difficult to structure and 
implement projects. The inconsistent allocation 
of subsidies deters the implementation of mixed 
income developments, driving away private 
sector investment. In particular the delays and 
differential timing of different grants across 
government present further challenges. For the 
private sector, such delays (especially in respect of 
bulk infrastructure funding) result in significant 
holding costs.

High need
2 million households are living in informal housing 
circumstances either in informal settlements 
or backyard rental. A further 6.1 million earn 
below R6,400 per month and anecdotal evidence 
indicates that such households are living in high 
levels of overcrowding and poor access to
basic services.

Figure 3: Key Challenges
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3.1 The HDA’s role in addressing human settlements challenges

Table 2: The HDA’s response to sector challenges

Issues HDA response

High need for housing

Improved national spatial planning

More rapid urban/new settlement planning and development

Better integrated and sustainable settlement

Insufficient public sector 
delivery

Land acquisition

Mobilisation of technical, programme and project management skills

Improved financial packaging and fund mobilisation

Declining private sector 
delivery

De-risking projects though unblocking and related interventions (e.g. expediting plans)

Securing funding for critical infrastructure

Ensuring funding (especially subsidy) flows

Poor human settlement 
outcomes

Improved spatial planning

Better programme, project and contract management

Building public-private partnerships

Fragmented funding 
framework

Improving intergovernmental (IG) coordination and funding packaging

More effective fund management

Mobilising other public and private resources (in addition to Human Settlement 
Development Grant (HSDG))

Untransformed human 
settlement sector

Contribute to the creation of black industrialists with specific focus on women, youth, 
people with disabilities and communities

Influence changes to material supply chains

Change mind-sets
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3. Overview of Service Delivery Environment
continued

3.2 The HDA’s expanded developer role

Whilst the HDA already plays a vital role in addressing the key human settlements sector challenges, it is necessary for the HDA to 
expand its role to that of a public sector human settlements development manager. This is particularly necessary in order to address 
housing supply where the public sector is failing due to insufficient public sector delivery, or where the private sector is reluctant
to invest. 

Expanding into the developer role will entail conceptualising, funding, planning, coordinating and managing the process of property 
development from beginning to end, i.e. from land identification to project closure. This includes project packaging, project approval 
and securing of funding, project implementation and project closure. The HDA’s expanded developer role is illustrated as follows:

Figure 4: Human settlements functional value chain
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The expanded developer function will include some of the human settlements functions currently falling within
the mandate of Provinces and Municipalities.

Given the extent of need, the role has been carefully framed and scoped to partner with, and not crowd out, the private sector. 
If higher levels of delivery are to be achieved by the HDA in its developer role, it is critical that the HDA and the private sector 
both contribute, and that collaborative relationships with other government entities (such as municipalities and provinces) are 
strengthened. Currently, in addition to land acquisition, the HDA supports provinces and municipalities in the planning, packaging, 
procurement and execution of projects. This assistance is provided according to implementation protocols (IPs) and medium-term 
operational plans (MTOPs) that outline the nature and extent of the support role to be played by the HDA. 

It is critical to note the following in relation to the HDA’s expanded developer role:

• The envisioned expanded developer role will incorporate some of the human settlements functions currently undertaken by 
provinces and municipalities.

• The developer role is not a construction role. The HDA will not appoint or build in-house human resources capabilities to 
actually build infrastructure and houses. In all cases this will be contracted out to private sector companies, and used as a tool 
to leverage the transformation of the construction sector. 

• The current legal framework (principally the HDA Act) provides sufficient mandate for the HDA to undertake the developer 
role in addition to its existing role.

• The HDA currently does not have the legal authority to impose its services on any sphere of government, and it is unlikely 
that such legal authority will be granted to the HDA. Provinces and municipalities therefore retain their autonomy in 
undertaking their constitutionally mandated human settlements function. Therefore, in order to expand its services into the 
project packaging and implementation space currently undertaken by other spheres of government, the HDA will need to 
work closely with all public and private sector players to ensure both seamless delivery and appropriate leveraging of skills 
and capabilities.
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The overall approach to implementing the HDA’s expanded developer role is underscored by the following 
implementation principles:  

• The developer role will be phased in incrementally, with the short-term focus being on achievable developments/projects with 
short-to-medium term delivery potential. This will be undertaken through partnerships and panel contracting arrangements 
to bring in capacity and minimise overheads and fixed costs. 

• All roles and functions currently undertaken by the HDA will continue and all IPs and MTOPs will be fulfilled. Over an agreed 
period, functions that are not in direct alignment with the expanded developer role will be phased out or limited, particularly 
those that are not cost recoverable.

• The key focus of the developer role will be to implement a selected number of catalytic developments (five to 10) that aim 
to achieve scale delivery of formal housing, private sector mobilisation (finance and capacity) and mixed-income sustainable 
integrated developments. 

• The identification of developments will occur via six main routes: 

Figure 5 Six routes to identifying potential developments

• It is envisaged that the implementation of the developments selected will be undertaken in terms of two streams:

Table 3: Two streams approach to implementing developments 

Ministerial designation in terms of the HDA Act1

Priority Housing Areas Projects2

Through specific programmes (e.g. catalytic or mining)3

Public Tender Processes4

Private-Public Partnerships5

On Request6
Developments can originate either from the public sector
(provincial, local or State-Owened Entity) or private sector.

Stream 1
Delivery Focused

Stream 2
Packaging Focused

This stream is delivery focused and is the first priority of 
the HDA. It’s focus is on the rapid delivery of housing 
units through the unblocking of private or public-sector 
developments/projects. Intervention areas that will be 
undertaken by the HDA will include political support, 
planning approvals, infrastructure, funding mobilisation 
and delivery, subsidy mobilisation and flow and the 
provision of technical support. HDA services will be 
funded from core funding and critical skills will be 
contracted out as required.

This stream focuses on packaging and re-risking of 
developments/projects to mobilise public funding and 
private sector participation as developers or contractors. 
Intervention areas by the HDA include planning, design, 
and fund mobilisation, securing land/rights, technical 
analysis and procurement support. HDA services will 
be funded from a development management fee to be 
charged. Critical skills will be contracted out as required.
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3. Overview of Service Delivery Environment
continued

• Developments will be selected on the basis that implementation can commence as soon as possible. Having said that, it is 
acknowledged that these projects are long term (generally in excess of five years). The developments will be declared Section 
29 projects by the Minister or by defining them as priority housing areas.

Priority housing development areas (PHDAs) are declared by the Minister of Human Settlements to address specific housing 
needs to achieve sustainable human settlements, through a process of intergovernmental cooperation, integrated planning and 
coordinated programmed implementation aimed at fast tracking housing delivery. PHDAs are furthermore determined by the 
circumstances of housing needs, which cannot be addressed in the current arrangement of existing housing programmes.

• In packaging developments, the HDA will have the mandate and funds to overcome key blockages that are currently 
inhibiting implementation, including, for example, the development of bulk infrastructure, accessing well-located land etc. 
In addition, the HDA will ensure that each development meets the objective of creating sustainable, integrated human 
settlements. The aim of the HDA will be to be innovative and change the way in which human settlement delivery is currently 
being undertaken. 

• A private sector developer partner will be required to invest in the developments and to bear some risk. The extent will be 
determined on a development-by-development basis. The private sector developer will also be required to invest in social and 
economic facilities as part of the capital cost of the development. This will be on the basis that the operational costs of the 
facilities will be borne by the relevant department (Education, Health etc.) as part of their normal budgeting. 

In order to deliver on the expanded developer role, the HDA has adopted the following delivery model:

Figure 6: The HDA’s delivery model

(1) Project
Identification

(2) Project
Selection

(3) Project
Packaging

(4) Delivery 
Support

(implimentation)

(5) Project
Closure/

Handover

Programme 
Design 

Planning & 
Management

Strategic 
Information 

& Inter-
government 

Relations

Pipeline of
Projects

Priority 
Projects

Core Funding Core Funding

Development
Management

Funds 
Mobilisation & 
Management

Technical 
Support/

Specialists (Town 
& Regional 

Planning: Land 
Assembly

Panel of 
Proffesional 

Service Providers

Development 1

Development 2

Development 3

Section 29 
Projects

(6) Monitoring

Strategic
Information

Core Funding

Core Funding Governance & Administration

Cost Recovery

Limited Core Funding
Project-linked Funding

and Cost-Recovery

Regional points 
- Technical/IGR 

Support/Unblocking
HDA may also 

be appointed as 
Implementing Agent

HDA exit

Programme
Allocation

Requests
etc.

Land & Housing 
Suppoort Services

The key focus of the new delivery model will be on the implementation of the three national priority projects, whilst continuing to 
support provinces and municipalities.
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4. Performance Information

The 2014 to 2019 MTSF targets of the HDA are outlined in the table below:

Table 4: MTSF 2014 to 2019 targets

Performance indicators
Target
(MTSF 
period)

2017/2018
Annual 
target

2017/2018
Perfor-
mance

1. Land acquisition Number of hectares of well-located land 
released for human settlement development 
(targeting poor and middle-income households)

10 000 ha 3 000 ha Achieved

2. National priority
programmes

Number of national priority programmes 
provided with oversight and implementation 
support (mining towns, catalytic projects, NUSP)

Three 
national 
programmes 
supported

Three 
national 
programmes 
supported

Achieved

3. Number of provinces supported with HDA 
services

Nine 
provinces

Nine 
provinces

Achieved

4. Master spatial 
plan

Develop, implement and maintain an approved 
master spatial plan (MSP) for the human 
settlements sector

Ongoing MSP Achieved

The HDA’s performance against the above four MTSF targets is as follows:

Land acquisition

Over the 2014 to 2019 MTSF period, the HDA has a land acquisition target of 10 000 hectares. The 2017/2018 target of 3000 
hectares was exceeded by 329.446 hectares of land. The MTSF target of 10 000 hectares has been exceeded by 6 837.3014 with a 
grand total of 16 837.3014 hectares of land achieved during the MTSF period.

Support for national priority programmes

The 2014 to 2019 MTSF mandated the HDA to implement three national priority programmes. These are the NUSP (National 
Upgrading Support Programme), the Catalytic Projects Programme and the Revitalisation of Distressed Mining Communities 
Programme. The Agency has been tasked to provide oversight, direction and implementation of these programmes. 

• The Catalytic Projects Programme

The 2014 to 2019 MTSF requires “the identification and implementation of national priority catalytic projects to deliver mega, 
high impact integrated and sustainable human settlements that clearly demonstrate spatial, social and economic integration”.  
The underlying principle for catalytic projects is that they must be spatially, economically and socially targeted interventions, the 
main objective of which is to intervene to deliberately restructure settlement patterns and impact on the environment. 

• National Upgrading Support Programme 

One of South Africa’s greatest human settlement challenges stems from the fact that informal settlements continue to grow faster 
than the rate of low-income housing delivery. The need for accelerated in-situ informal settlement upgrading is paramount. This 
growth in informal settlements is most notable in mining areas in South Africa. The HDA Act of 2008 provides the basis for the 
Agency to assist organs of state with the upgrading of informal settlements. The HDA board approved an organisational informal 
settlement upgrading framework in 2014, which guides the implementation of the programme.  

In 2013 the Minister mandated the HDA to implement the NUSP in the mining towns to fast-track implementation. The NUSP 
is a programme within the NDHS designed to provide technical and capacity support to provinces and municipalities for the 
implementation of informal settlement upgrading across the country through the use of the Upgrading of Informal Settlement 
Programme (UISP) together with other housing programmes.

Performance against Medium-Term Strategic Framework Targets
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4. Performance Information

• Revitalisation of distressed mining towns

In October 2012 a social accord was signed by government, business and labour, commonly known as the special presidential 
package, to focus on living conditions in mining towns, especially those of mine workers.

The revitalisation of distressed mining towns programme was borne out of this, and a range of social responses were 
identified: 

• Integrated sustainable human settlements in mining towns.

• Improved socioeconomic conditions of mine communities and labour-sending areas.

• Improved working conditions of mine workers and confidence in the labour market.

• Decent living conditions for mine workers and the development trajectory of mining towns and labour-sending areas.

The NDHS is responsible for directing the following outcomes:

• ● Integrated sustainable human settlements in mining towns.

• ● Decent living conditions for mine workers and the development trajectory of mining towns.

This responsibility was allocated to the HDA, as part of its mandate, by the Minister of Human Settlement Development. The HDA’s 
intervention has focused on fast-tracking and supporting existing human settlement projects in the 22 mining town areas. In the 
2017/18 financial year focus was on developing spatial transformation plans for mining towns. In addition, a strategy for labour 
sending areas was also developed.

Figure 7: Mining towns
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Macro indicators Baseline
Annual target
2017/18

Annual
status

Comment

Frequency of providing monitoring 
and evaluation reports against the 
framework for spatial investment for 
human settlements based on the MSP

Two monitoring reports with 
research and impact studies 
done related to monitoring 
and evaluation of spatial 
transformation and targeting

Two monitoring reports 
on the implementation 
of spatial targeting and 
transformation against the 
framework

Achieved Finalised land audit report 
of 368 land parcels 

Finalised level 3 report of 
five projects
Published and 
workshopped action 
research reports

Number of hectares of well-located 
land (targeting poor and middle-
income households) acquired or 
released

6 288.0651 hectares 3 000 hectares Achieved Total of 3 329.446 was 
achieved

The annual target was 
exceeded by 329.446 
hectares of land

Hectares of land facilitated for 
rezoning 

No baseline – new target 1 000 hectares Achieved Total of 1 564.129 was 
achieved

The annual target was 
exceeded by 564.129 
hectares of land facilitated 
for rezoning

Number of national priority 
programmes provided with 
programme management and 
technical project support

356 informal settlements 
provided with technical support

Five projects provided with 
implementation support

Achieved Six informal settlements 
have been provided with 
implementation support 
i.e. Smashblock, Nkaneng,
Noordgedacht, Jabulani
Promised Land, Amaoti

Technical support provided to 
projects in 22 mining towns

Technical support provided 
to projects in 22 mining 
towns

Achieved Technical support provided 
to projects in 22 mining 
towns as part of the 
government’s revitalisation 
of mining towns

99 catalytic projects provided 
with support

50 catalytic projects 
managed for 
implementation 

Achieved A total of 58 catalytic 
projects have 
been managed for 
implementation

To date 48 government led 
national priority human 
settlements catalytic proj-
ects have been approved/
confirmed by MINMEC for 
programme delivery

There’s an additional 
10 with three private 
(Northam, Leratong and 
Helderwyk) and seven 
mega (Savanna City, 
Malibongwe, Clayville, 
Fleurhof, Esselen Park, 
Riverside view, South Hills)

Table 5: Macro indicators

Performance against Medium-Term Strategic
Framework Targets continued
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Performance against Medium-Term Strategic
Framework Targets continued

Macro indicators Baseline
Annual target
2017/18

Annual
status

Comment

Number of provinces provided with 
capacity and implementation support 
as per MTOPs and business plans

Nine provinces provided with 
implementation support and 
regional coordination as per 
MTOPs and business plans

Nine provinces provided 
with implementation 
support and regional co-
ordination as per MTOPs 
and business plans

Achieved Nine provinces 
were provided with 
human settlements 
implementation support 
in line with MTOPs or 
business plans

Number of housing units and serviced 
sites provided as part of Implemen-
tation support to programmes and 
projects

6 912 housing units 6 518 housing units Not 
achieved

Annual total 5 691 
housing units was 
achieved. There was a 
shortfall of 827 housing 
units to reach the annual 
target

Delivery of housing units 
was encumbered by 
the delay in appointing 
new contractors due to 
uncertainty regarding 
timeous receipt of funds 
from the provincial 
departments of human 
settlements Delivery 
was also impeded in the 
Western Cape

9 539 serviced sites 5 203 serviced sites Achieved A total of 7 446 was 
achieved exceeding the 
annual target by a total of 
2 243

Due to the slow pace in 
the delivery of projects 
such as Joe Slovo in the 
Western Cape, additional 
projects were identified 
that required the HDA’s 
support The addition of 
these projects resulted in 
improved performance for 
this indicator

Number of private sector developers 
meeting targets in the transformation 
and empowerment framework 

No baseline – new target 19 transformation and 
empowerment plans 
signed

Achieved 21 transformation and 
empowerment plans 
signed with partners

No baseline – new target Five implementation 
frameworks signed

Achieved Implementation frame-
works signed for catalytic 
projects
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4.1 Programme Performance Information

The activities of the HDA are organised into budget programmes and sub-programmes, with the following
sub-programme purposes: 

Table 6: Programmes, sub-programmes and sub-programme purpose

Programme Sub-programme Sub-programme purpose

Programme 1:
Administration

1A: CEO 
To implement strategic leadership and good 
governance 

1B: Finance 
To ensure that the HDA is financially 
sustainable

1C: Corporate support
To ensure that the HDA is an internally 
cohesive and effective organisation with 
systems that are stable and accessible

Programme 2:
Strategic support, organisational 
effectiveness and stakeholder 
engagement 

2A: Organisational performance  
To develop and implement a long-term 
vision and strategy for the HDA, so as to 
achieve its mandate

2B: Marketing, communications, 
stakeholder management and 
intergovernmental relations 

To undertake effective stakeholder 
management and communications

2C: Spatial information and analysis 

To identify and evaluate land parcels and 
projects for development by the HDA 
within an overall investment framework 
of effective spatial transformation and 
targeting of human settlements 

Programme 3:
Development management
and operations

3A:  National technical assistance 
To provide technical services so as to enable 
the implementation of human settlement 
developments by the HDA

3B: National programme design and 
management 

To package and manage the 
implementation of national priority 
programmes 

Programme 4:
Built environment 
implementation 

4A: Regional coordination and 
human settlements implementation 
support services
(Region A, B & C)

To provide human settlements 
implementation support services and 
regional coordination to provinces and 
municipalities to enable them to fulfil their 
responsibilities in the human settlement 
sector

4B:  Land management 

Land identification for human settlement 
development
Acquisition and release of well-located 
land for human settlement development 
(targeting poor and middle income 
households)
Support and monitor process in regard to 
rezoning of land (in municipalities)
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4.1 Programme Performance Information

4.2. PROGRAMME ONE: ADMINISTRATION

Administration incorporates the finance and corporate services sub-programmes responsible for the administrative support functions 
of the organisation. 

Sub-programme 1A: Office of the CEO

The CEO’s office provides the strategic direction for the organisation.

Sub-programme 1B: Office of the CFO 

The finance department ensures that the HDA is financially sustainable and consistently achieves unqualified audit reports. The 
finance department is responsible for financial management, supply chain management, risk management and financial and 
compliance reporting. 

Sub-programme 1C: Corporate support services 

The corporate support services sub-programme provides the HDA with support that enables the core business units to perform their 
housing delivery function. Corporate support includes human resources, legal services, and information technology and facilities.  

Human resources department

During the year under review, the focus of the human resources (HR) department was to support the HDA in its strategic shift to 
incorporate its expanded mandate as a fully-fledged property developer. 

During the year under review the department focused on the following:

• Successfully concluded and obtained approval for a revised organogram with the Minister in August 2017. HR supported and 
implemented the necessary transformational procedures to ensure a smooth transition.  

• Prioritised and focused on development and approval of a human resources and people strategy and its implementation plan. 
This ran concurrent with ongoing recruitment and support of the resource requirements for the organisation. Selection and 
recruitment of 79 new employees was completed.

• Implementation of the revised HR policy and procedure manual (approved by the HDA board in February 2017) is one of the 
key milestones of the department, and training and workshops on the new policy for all staff was conducted.

• Implementation of the approved HDA training plan against the skills matrix saw 192 external training initiatives and 421 
internal training initiatives concluded. 

• Ongoing management of HR governance and compliance (payroll support, leave management, personnel file management 
and HR information management) continues to receive significant attention. 

• HR maintains consistent ongoing support, training, monitoring and reporting of the implementation of performance 
management programme within the organisation.

• Undertook a successful implementation of the first internship programme, in which 25 interns were recruited and placed 
within various core business departments nationally.  

• Successful implementation of corporate social investment (CSI) initiatives for two schools identified from housing projects 
managed by the HDA, together with successful implementation of the HDA national wellness day are some of the targets 
that HR has achieved.
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Programme Performance Information continued
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Figure 8: HDA Leadership functional structure

Categories AF AM CF CM IF IM WF WM **D TOTAL

No. of employees (F-EU) 2 6 1 0 1 0 0 2 0 12

No of employees (EL) 1 7 0 2 1 1 1 0 0 13

No of employees (DU-DL) 25 36 3 3 1 2 0 1 0 71

No of employees (CU-CL) 43 19 7 5 0 2 6 0 0 82

No of employees (B-BL) 4 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

No of employees (A-AU) 8 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 22

Total percentage 40.1 41.1 5.3 4.8 1.4 2.4 3.4 1.4 0 100%

Total Staff 83 85 11 10 3 5 7 3 0 207

Total staff percentage 81.2% 10.1% 3.8% 4.8% 0%

National target 
percentage

75.20% 10.60% 3.10% 10.80% 2%

HDA priority grouping *√ *√

Figure 9: HDA Leadership functional structure

* √ = areas of recruitment priority     
** D = Disability
Please note that the disabled employee is reported under WF and not added twice in the total calculation.
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Programme Performance Information continued

Figure 10: Number of staff as at 31 March 2018
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Figure 11: Employment equity stats as at 31 March 2018
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Figure 12: Number of female staff as at 31 March 2018
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Figure 13: Number of male staff as at 31 March 2018
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Figure 14: Staff movement as at 31 March 2018
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Corporate legal services

The main purpose of corporate legal is to provide sound legal analysis that advises, protects and ensures the integrity of the 
organisation when carrying out its mandate. The following are the main highlights of the corporate legal services business unit:

• Successful anti-fraud and anti-corruption awareness and training.

• Drives improvement in service delivery through the implementation of the electronic legal services help desk tool. 

Information technology

In line with the current HDA strategic plan, IT focused on improving and enhancing the IT environment. This saw the IT environment 
achieving 99% uptime, increased internet bandwidth, and purchasing additional servers and storage devices to increase performance 
in the data centre to cater for the increase in staff.  The HDA board has approved an IT strategic plan for implementation. 

The following manual processes were automated to streamline and improve functionality:

• Travel desk

• Knowledge management hub

• Templates

• Board information portal

4.3 PROGRAMME 2: STRATEGIC SUPPORT, ORGANISATIONAL EFFECTIVENESS AND 
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (SOS)

Programme 2 is established to enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of the HDA. It is composed of the following sub-
programmes:  2A Organisational performance, 2B Marketing, communications and stakeholder management and intergovernmental 
relations and 2C Spatial information analysis.

Sub-programme 2A: Organisational performance

The organisational performance management unit of the HDA is tasked with managing and coordinating organisation-wide efforts 
to inculcate a culture of performance management within the organisation. The unit develops standards, guidelines, procedures 
and policies, all aimed at managing the organisational performance environment, as well as ensuring alignment to the government-
wide framework for managing programme performance information. The programme contributes to the attainment of the strategic 
objective “to provide strategic leadership and support in the implementation of the HDA mandate”.

During the year under review the programme developed the organisational performance management framework. The framework 
outlines the approach, methodology and structural arrangements for performance management within the HDA that will be 
utilised to track the execution of the HDA’s mandate, strategic plan and annual performance plans. In addition, the programme 
is instrumental in ensuring that the HDA is compliant to the prescripts of the PFMA and framework for managing performance 
information.

Sub-programme 2B: Stakeholder management and intergovernmental relations (SIR)

The unit contributes to the following strategic objective: “building partnerships and ensure stakeholder management in support of 
the HDA programmes”. This is achieved through promoting and enhancing efficient and effective stakeholder management between 
the Agency and its stakeholders. Over the 2017/8 financial year, the unit has made significant strides in building the confidence in 
the sector through sustained services awareness, as well as sustained engagement with stakeholders as part of generating business 
opportunities, collaboration and improving coordination. 

During the year under review, the following achievement highlights were recorded:

1. Stakeholder management and intergovernmental relations policy and strategy, as well as the guidelines to the 
conclusion of implementation protocols 

The stakeholder and intergovernmental relations (SIR) policy was presented and approved by the board in the first quarter, and 
the SIR strategy and the engagement plan was presented to EXCO and approved on 4 September 2017. As part of the process to 
institutionalise and raise awareness within the organisation, roadshows were undertaken from 7 February to 8 March 2018.
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2. Building awareness of the HDA’s services and products 

In this financial year, the SIR unit has been supporting the regional managers to attract new business. To this end, the SIR unit 
presented HDA services to potential new clients, namely Rustenburg and Madibeng municipalities, Lonmin and AMCU (to discuss the 
mining towns programme), Enoch Mgijima Local Municipality, Sakhisizwe Local Municipality, Joe Gqabi Economic and Development 
Agency, Emfuleni Local Municipality, Walter Sisulu Municipality, Thaba Chweu Municipality, Nelson Mandela University and
Standard Bank. 

3. Facilitation of the conclusion of cooperative agreements with key stakeholders

Support was provided to the Catalytic Projects Programme and consultations were carried out with the nine provincial departments 
of human settlements and 21 municipalities to facilitate the conclusion of the cooperative agreements.

By the end of the financial year, the SIR unit had completed IPs with the following municipalities: 

North West Provincial Department of Human Settlements, Matlosana Municipality, Umhlathuze, Municipality, Free State Provincial 
Department of Human Settlements, Mpumalanga Provincial Department of Human Settlements, Dihlabeng, Municipality,  
Metsimaholo Municipality, Mangaung Municipality, Northern Cape Provincial Department of Human Settlements, Tsantsabane 
Municipality, Gasegonyane Municipality, Sol Plaatjie Municipality, Emalahleni Local Municipality, Rand West Local Municipality, 
Gauteng (GPF and National Department), Newcastle Local Municipality, KwaDukuza Local Municipality, Tshwane Metropolitan 
Municipality, Emfuleni Local Municipality, Limpopo Local Municipality and eThekwini Metropolitan Municipality.

In addition, nine memorandums of agreement (MOA) were signed with the following municipalities:

Umhlathuze Local Municipality, Newcastle Local Municipality, Kwadukuza Local Municipality, Free State Provincial Department of 
Human Settlements, Dihlabeng Municipality, Metsimaholo Municipality, Mangaung Municipality, Randwest Local Municipality and 
Emfuleni Local Municipality. An agreement between the Agency and the Social Housing Regulatory Authority (SHRA) was concluded. 
This will facilitate the transfer of funds from the SHRA to the Agency to assist with the creation of different housing typologies. 

The unit has continued to provide secretariat support to the joint coordinating committee on state land. 

Some of the challenges that have affected the performance of the unit include the absence of capital funding for land acquisition. 
This is still a factor that makes stakeholders wary of the Agency’s ability to carry out its mandate of acquiring land for human 
settlements development. The unit is overstretched, with very limited capacity, and this affects its reach to engage all stakeholders 
effectively.

Despite the challenges, the unit has identified the following opportunities that it will use improve delivery going 
forward:  

• The upscaling of the Agency as it becomes the developer presents the prospect for SIR and the organisation to increase the 
opportunity for engagement with new partners.

• The Agency must build a mechanism within the structural design to include SIR in the planning and reporting platforms, as 
this has the potential to create an opportunity for better coordination. 

Sub-programme 2B: Communication and marketing

During the past financial year, the HDA has increased its public visibility by focusing on the key projects it is currently implementing 
on behalf of different provinces and municipalities. Implementing the board-approved communication plan, the communications and 
marketing unit undertook various activities in efforts to share information about what the Agency does, why, how and for whom. 
This was done both externally and internally.

External communications

Exhibitions: The HDA successfully showcased its MSP dashboard, urban design models and other service offerings at the
following events:

• SAWIC commemorative conference

• Gauteng Economic Summit

• NDHS Budget Vote

Programme Performance Information continued
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• Human Settlements Summit

• GCIS Government Services EXPO

• National Treasury/GIBS public sector executive management programme

Web content development and social media

Our focus over the reporting period was on actively sharing content on our social media platforms. Through activation of our online 
registration by stakeholders we have observed an increase in the number of people who actually opened and read our newsletter. 
By the end of the financial year, our subscriber list was at approximately 1 500. Our social media platforms have grown since our 
launch in November 2016 and more engagement took place on various featured topics. We have learned that we need to have 
short snippets of information readily available to share with the public on these platforms. The HDA website remains the most 
active platform through which the Agency interacts with not just its clients but also with service providers and the general public, 
particularly job seekers, researchers and international organisations. 

Newsletters

Our newsletter in the Eastern Cape, Umhlali, covers all the HDA projects being implemented in the province. Distribution has 
increased, as we have broadened content to not just include the Nelson Mandela Bay region, but to also include provincial human 
settlements issues. 

Public and stakeholder engagement 

N2 Gateway title deed handover event took place at the project and was mostly geared to handing over title deeds as part of the 
national drive to eradicate the historic backlog. The session was preceded by a robust consumer education session hosted with our 
partners, the NDHS, the City of Cape Town and the Western Cape Department of Human Settlements.  

The CEO’s contractors workshop was mainly targeted at registered contractors in the Nelson Mandela Bay Metro, where the HDA is 
currently assisting the Metro to deliver on the Zanemvula mega-housing project. The workshop aimed to address issues emanating 
from the work allocation to SMME contractors and also giving feedback on the incubation programme that the HDA runs in 
partnership with the NHBRC. 

Public relations and marketing

As part of the unit’s efforts to solicit effective communication platforms to publicise the work of the Agency, the CEO undertook 
a feature interview on Metro FM’s primetime evening show to share the business opportunities that exist as part of the Agency’s 
work in delivering human settlements. Furthermore, the unit developed and partly implemented a marketing campaign for catalytic 
projects. It produced and aired two episodes on the BNG TV series featured on SABC 2 every Saturday at 13:00. The episodes were 
about the social impact of the N2 Gateway project, focusing on Delft and the Mining Towns Programme: Lephalale.

Internal communications

Critical to the unit’s role in ensuring that all stakeholders are informed about the work of the Agency is the need to ensure that it 
has an interactive internal communications environment and builds a cohesive organisational culture. This is done through the 
following:

Staff newsletter

This financial year the newsletter featured the professional staff employed by the HDA, with a focus on their job specific expertise 
and how this fits in with the broader organisational objectives. 

Intranet

In the fourth quarter of the reporting period, the unit launched the HDA assembly hub. This is an interactive repository of internal 
information that seeks to ensure that staff have easy access to information and have a platform to engage on. 

HDA assembly

This event is an opportunity for the CEO and the board to interact with all HDA staff. It seeks to onboard all staff on the strategic 
focus of the Agency and also give the CEO and the board an opportunity to interact and get feedback from staff on various 
organisational issues. The 2017 staff assembly launched the HDA ‘recognition awards’ aimed at recognising excellence and 
dedication from staff in the execution of the organisational mandate.

Programme Performance Information continued
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Community outreach and corporate social investment

The HDA seeks to encourage its staff to participate in positively impacting the communities in which it delivers projects. The 
following community outreach/donations /sponsorship events were undertaken:
 

• Christmas gifts given to Smarties Nursery in Whitefield, Benoni

• Sanitary towels drive for Balmoral College, Benoni

• Donate a book campaign and started a library for Smarties Nursery, Benoni

• Mandela Day renovations to a house of an elderly woman in Palm Ridge

(Note that the cost of these activities was covered by the HDA staff.) 

Through the CEO’s office, the unit received various requests for donations from destitute families and also requests for sponsorships 
from major industrial concerns, especially from previously disadvantaged groups. As a responsive public entity, the Agency provided 
donations and sponsorships to the following:

Mitchells Plein family - The Minister of Human Settlements requested that the Agency assist a family of a young boy from Mitchells 
Plein who was diagnosed with cancer. His living conditions were not conducive for his recovery at home and the Agency was 
requested to undertake some minor renovations to the family home and also furnish the bedroom of the young boy.

Duncan Village ministerial visit - The Minister of Human Settlements visited the community of Duncan Village in East London 
as part of an oversight visit to check on the progress of human settlements delivery in the region.  A destitute family of an elderly 
woman was identified and home furniture was donated. In relation to this, the unit drafted and got board approval for the HDA 
donations and sponsorship policy. 

Sub-programme 2C: Spatial information and analysis 

The purpose of this programme is to build a knowledge base, guide decisions with analytical information, and monitor and evaluate 
the performance of the human settlements sector in achieving key strategic priorities. The unit provides information and action 
research in support of promoting spatial targeting, as well as the monitoring and evaluation of land and housing development 
to measure the impact of spatial transformation in human settlements. The unit provides geographic information systems (GIS) 
technology and information to support spatial targeting and uses business information to assist with key business decisions on 
projects.

The role of business intelligence within the HDA is to consolidate real-time information across multiple strategic projects and 
programmes for progress reporting and decision-making. BI also provides insights into business operations, including tracking 
performance against targets. The HDA command centre dashboard consolidates programme information into a single organisational 
viewpoint that facilitates the seamless dissemination of information and reporting within the organisation.

The GIS component of the unit continued with the spatial support it provides internally to the organisation. The team also ensured 
access to the online spatial information system through the land and property spatial information system (LaPsis). The government 
sector is still the largest users of the system. It has also become apparent that the private sector also needs the system. Private sector 
users have been given limited access to certain aspects of the system.  

Geographic information systems

The GIS sub-programme attended to 451 requests in the 2017/18 financial year. The unit provided spatial information services to all 
core departments in the HDA, as well as a number of external requests to the NDHS. 

1 653 maps were produced during the year, primarily for the identification of land, project support and a number of other internal 
and external reports, presentations and dashboards.  In total, the unit mapped 5 436 properties for land identification, which 
amounts to 45 822 hectares of land.  The unit also provided spatial analyses for various presentations presented nationally, such as 
the Department of Human Settlements Summit and the South African Woman in Construction (SAWIC) conference, as well as maps 
for international presentations, such as the HDA’s visit to Malaysia and the Senegalese study tour to South Africa.  

The HDA’s spatial information system, LaPsis, which is now in its ninth year of existence, is still in high demand.  Twenty-one training 
sessions were held during the year, of which the majority were to support the NDHS capacity building programme.  Some 354 users 
registered on LaPsis during the year, which increased the number of users by 31% to 1 592.  During this financial year, 118 758 
searches were conducted on LaPsis, bringing the total number of searches on the system since its inception to just under 800 000.  
Hopefully the system will reach one million searches in the coming financial year.  

Programme Performance Information continued
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The biggest challenge that the unit faced during this financial year was procurement issues, especially in terms of advancing the 
organisation technologically. It is important in the future to ensure that procurement processes assist the organisation to access 
advanced technologies in the sector.

Business intelligence

The business intelligence sub-programme was established as a stand-alone sub-programme after being split from the GIS and BI sub-
programmes.  This allowed the spatial information and analysis department to focus its attention on the ever-expanding business 
information requirements for the organisation.  

The HDA command centre dashboard reached its second year during the month of March. This dashboard is being used as a 
key tool for EXCO reporting and is updated on a weekly basis with HDA construction project data.  The dashboard also looks at 
organisational, programme and project performance in terms of financial and non-financial information. In addition to this, the 
dashboard also reports on project progress, the catalytic projects programme, and land assembly and land related matters.  The BI 
environment was also used as a dashboard and planning tool for the national housing need register and human settlements subsidy 
projects. 

The dashboard has made a significant impact since its debut two years ago, and the focus for the next stage of its development will 
be around alignment of data reported. The dashboard is a mechanism in the HDA that guides and drives consistent and accurate 
figures to inform effective decision-making in the organisation, and will be used in future throughout the sector, supported by a 
planned data warehouse and supporting data marts.

Monitoring and evaluation 

The monitoring and evaluation team has successfully completed a land audit of 368 parcels of HDA-facilitated land across eight 
provinces. The audit comprises a comprehensive update on the status and progress made on each parcel. The exercise revealed that 
85.6% of the land parcels are either at township establishment phase or are already in implementation stage.

With respect to contributing to the spatial transformation agenda, evaluations were conducted on five running projects with the aim 
of verifying adequate access to employment potential, transport networks, bulk infrastructure, equitable housing markets and green 
efficiency. The evaluations also ensured that the development of the human settlements projects was enhancing people’s livelihoods 
and transforming the spatial layout of the areas in which they are located.  In addition, monitoring reports with SWOT (strengths, 
weakness, opportunities and threats) analyses were conducted for the five projects to identify the areas that need improvement.  

Ten infographics have been developed that provide ancillary information in a graphics format about what to look for when selecting 
a parcel of land, for example: how to develop integrated and sustainable human settlements that will appreciate over time; how 
to measure running projects against the social, technological, economic, environmental and political (STEEP) factors that should be 
considered when embarking on the journey of achieving spatial transformation; and lastly, how the trends of the housing market will 
help beneficiaries to using their assets (housing units) as collateral for further investment.  An infographics booklet was published 
and distributed at the Human Settlements Summit in September 2017.

Knowledge management and research

In terms of research outputs, three action research reports have been developed focusing on spatial transformation, sectional 
title schemes and sector wide benchmarks for maintenance. Further, two publications have been produced which have been 
workshopped and distributed to our stakeholders.  Another significant achievement is the finalisation of the housing market 
dashboard with 64 municipalities, including the mining municipalities, the accredited municipalities and the metros.  Lastly, the 
spatial transformation scoring tool is gaining full traction and has been incorporated within the Catalytic Projects Programme 
across all three regions.  This will ensure that all catalytic projects being led by the HDA are adhering to the 10 pillars of spatial 
transformation i.e. well-located, affordable land, Minister’s six-pack, integration, socioeconomic development, transversal alignment, 
urban management, quality, functional and equitable residential property markets, public safety and return on investment.

Programme Performance Information continued
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5 PROGRAMME 3: DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS

This programme was established to ensure the provision of technical support services, so as to enable the implementation of human 
settlement developments or the implementation of priority programmes. The programme is made up of two sub-programmes, 
namely national technical assistance and national programme design management.

Sub-programme 3A:  National technical assistance 

The National Technical Team was established to support the creation of sustainable integrated human settlements through the 
provision of technical and capacity support to departments within the HDA based on requests received for specialised technical 
work. The scope of the unit includes focus on student accommodation and investments in the inner city developments. Technical 
and capacity building support provided by the programme includes but not limited to:

• Urban Design Concepts for land development

• Town Planning designs

• Development and infrastructure assessments

• Overall project due diligence reports

• Quality Assessment reports

• Project packaging presentations

• Project management support

Some of the key programme highlights include the unit’s work in Inner City Support. During the year under review, the focus was 
on sourcing and securing of funding for land and buildings for the Inner City Programme. This culminated in presenting 5 Inner City 
sites within the Joburg Inner City (Jeppestown) to The Social Housing Regulatory Authority (SHRA). This led to the land acquisition 
and associated funding approved by SHRA Council to acquire, hold and package for social housing projects.

The Programme participated in various meetings with Mining Houses in the areas of Spatial Transformation Planning, and the various 
partnership programmes where HDA has partnered with Mining Houses to better the living conditions of miners in those areas. In 
addition, the programme also provided technical design work on portions of land with complex histories or in urgent timeframes 
for delivery. These included the Greydell Settlement in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality and the review of the Denel land 
portion in the City of Cape Town.

Sub-programme 3B: National programme design management

Sub-programme 3B comprises the three national priority programmes i.e. catalytic projects, upgrading of informal settlements 
programme and the mining towns programme.

Figure 15: National priority projects

National Priority Projects

Catalytic Projects
Informal Settlement 

Upgrades
Mining Towns

Catalytic projects are spatially 
targeted interventions that aim 
to change the way we provide 
infrastructure by restructuring 
settlements patterns. These projects 
are mega in size. The benefits of 
catalytic projects are; Increased 
economic opportunities from jobs 
created when the projects start and 
post construction SMME job creation.

Informal settlement upgrade 
programme is designed to provide 
technical and capacity support to 
provinces and municipalities for 
the implementation of informal 
settlement upgrading across the 
country through the use of the 
Upgrading of Informal Settlement 
Programme (UISP) together with 
other housing programmes.

The objectives of the human 
settlements component of 
the intervention requires the 
transformation of mining towns 
through the creation of sustainable 
integrated human settlements.



43 ANNUAL REPORT 2017|2018

Programme Performance Information continued

Upgrading of Informal Settlements Programme (UISP)

In line with the developer mandate, the HDA supported six multi-year informal settlement development projects (Promised Land, 
Jabulani, Noordgedacht, Nkaneng, Amaoti and Smashblock) for implementation up to phase 1 and phase 2 of the UISP respectively. 
This was done in collaboration with the relevant municipalities and provinces. 

A project tracking tool for the customisation of the informal settlement upgrading pipeline has been developed to track the 
implementation of all informal settlements assessed and categorised in all mining towns. All capacity support targets were achieved 
for the 2017/18 financial year, which includes six sector engagements in the form of thematic workshops, as well as three sector 
publications or good practice guidelines.  

Mining towns

South Africa’s mining towns face unique challenges when it comes to the conditions and prospects in human settlements. These 
range from institutional challenges faced by the municipalities where mining operations take place, the host communities who 
are directly impacted by mining, and the employees and mining companies who have certain legal obligations towards human 
settlements and other socioeconomic challenges prevalent in mining areas. The HDA has done an analysis of a range of these 
challenges and can be summarised as follows:

Mining Company’s challenges

• Employees living in sub-standard conditions

• Must improve the living conditions and levels of homeownership of their employees

• Must contribute to improvements in the local areas/communities

• Have substantial technical and engineering capacity

• Access and manage substantial bulk infrastructure capacity

• Housing development and service delivery seen not part of their core business

Local Municipality’s challenges
• Are responsible for the living conditions of all households in their area

• Face backlogs in respect of housing and access to basic services

• Face constraints in terms of access to bulk infrastructure capacity

• Are often under capacitated in respect of technical capacity

• Not able to respond to mine closures and impact on infrastructure (decom)

Local Community’s challenges
• Live in poor housing conditions

• Limited access to social facilities

• High levels of unemployment and limited economic opportunity

• Rely heavily on mine employment and providing services to mine workers (such as accommodation)

• Former mine workers unable to integrate to communities after closures  

A number of partnership agreements have been concluded with mining companies. The objective of these agreements is to act as a 
driver in coordinating and ensuing that the various stakeholders commit to the planning and implementation of projects. The table 
below lists the agreements.
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Notable achievements for the reporting period

• Implementation of large-scale housing programmes through catalytic projects (Altoosytyd) in Liphalale and Rustenburg 
(Bokamoso).

• Land acquisition and proactive planning in areas like Greater Tubatse and Thabazimbi.

• A number of partnerships with mining companies have been finalised to address land assembly, integrated human 
settlements, infrastructure development and legacy assets in areas such as Rustenburg, Thabazimbi, Maltosana
and Merafong.  

• Detailed planning is at an advanced stage for an integrated human settlements development (IRDP) seeking to incorporate 
mine workers through employee housing assisted schemes (Marikana Extension 13).

• Technical support for informal settlements work has taken place in Thabazimbi, and in particular Smashblock informal 
settlement.

• Detailed assistance and support for municipalities with distressed mine assets has been ongoing in Merafong and Matlosana 
local municipalities.

Catalytic Projects 

As of the 2017/18 financial year, a pipeline of 100 large-scale preferred catalytic projects has been identified. A total of 58 of the 
projects were at different stages of development during 2017/18. They comprise 48 human settlements that are MINMEC-approved, 
government-led national priority human settlements catalytic projects, seven Gauteng provincial government mega-projects, and 
three private sector, joint-venture, mixed development projects. 

By end of 2017/18, the government-led catalytic projects had achieved the following differentiated development status: eight 
projects at inception stage, 11 at planning stage and 29 at implementation stage. Twenty-one of the 58 projects underwent 
transaction advisor assessment (comprehensive feasibility). Hence the catalytic projects programme has over-achieved its 2017/18 
annual target.

Bulk infrastructure and provision of socioeconomic facilities remain major cross-cutting challenges in the majority of the projects 
and therefore require urgent intervention by the NDHS and MIMNEC. It is important to report that more than 50% of the approved 
projects in the catalytic projects programme have not been allocated any funding in the 2017/18 MTEF budget. This requires urgent 
and decisive correction by NDHS and MINMEC if accelerated programme delivery and development impact is to be realised. 

Viewed as a whole and once fully implemented, the catalytic projects programme impacts on over 70% of the country’s population 
in terms of the MSP. A national programme coordinating committee was established to coordinate and oversee programme delivery 
during the year under review; it is fully functional and meets on a monthly basis. Three professional resource teams (one team per 
region) provided hands-on specialist technical support in line with the programme capacity requirements, in addition to the existing 
HDA provincial offices and national head office capacity. 

The development of the programme tracking tool to feed into the HDA dashboard is work in progress (physical progress, including 
training of staff, is at approximately 70% completion). Teams of six transaction advisors were appointed for project consulting, 
fundraising, and negotiation and contracting for the selected 21 projects. Part 1 of the transaction advisors’ assignment, which 
comprised comprehensive feasibility studies (assessment) on the 21 selected projects, was successfully completed during the year 
under review.

In order to strengthen public-public partnerships and programme delivery collaboration, 17 IPs and eight MOAs were signed by 
provincial departments of human settlements and targeted municipalities. An IP was also concluded with the DBSA to further 
leverage resources for the catalytic projects programme.

Finaly the projects’ development status are catagarised based on the joint planning and management committee (JPMC) agreed 
development status classification legend as follows: 

● Category A  - Projects at inception phase

● Category B  - Projects at planning phase

● Category C - Projects at implementation phase
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Category A : Inception Category B : Planning Category c : Implementation

OUTPUTS OUTPUTS OUTPUTS

• Obtained Catalytic Status 

• Land Identification complete

• Land Ownership verified

• Land acquisition complete (where 
applicable)

• Budget for land acquisition 
available

• Land transferred to municipality 
(where applicable)

• Lease agreement in place (where 
applicable)

• Appointment of Implementing
Agent 

• Record of Decision (ROD) has 
been acquired

• There is no development 
restriction

• Project Feasibility Study 
concluded

• Layout plan developed

• Services Agreement in place

• Proclamation done

• Business Plan prepared and 
Submitted

• Business Plan approved

• Development Budget approved

• Obtained EIA approval

• Obtained WULA

• Town Planning Completed

• Geotechnical Studies Concluded

• Traffic Investigation complete

• Land Survey complete

• Social facilitation complete

• Beneficiary list approved

• Design development 

• Procurement

• Construction of Civil 
Infrastructure (Bulk)

• Construction of Civil 
Infrastructure (Internal Services)

• Construction of Electrical 
Infrastructure (Bulk)

• Construction of Electrical 
Infrastructure (Internal Services)

• Construction of Top Structures

• Construction of Social Amenities

• Handover and Occupation by 
Beneficiary
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6 PROGRAMME 4: BUILT ENVIRONMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION

The programme was established to provide human settlements implementation support services and regional coordination to 
provinces and municipalities to enable them to fulfil their responsibilities in the human settlements sector. Coordination is structured 
into three regions, namely Region A, Region B and Region C. 

Sub-programme 4A: Regional coordination and human settlements implementation 
support services (Region A, B & C)

Region A – Western Cape, Eastern Cape and Northern Cape

During the 2017-2018 financial year Region A had a combined delivery of 2 850 housing units and 4 004 serviced sites. 

Eastern Cape

There was a delay in appointing new contractors and this was due to uncertainty regarding the receipt of funds. This had a knock-on 
effect on attainment of units, resulting in only 856 units being constructed out of the 2 367 planned, with 793 units in progress at 
the end of the financial year.

Economic transformation has been achieved through reviewing the procurement system in the Nelson Mandela Bay Metro. The 
reform was undertaken in close consultation with all the relevant parties and in particular with local business and SMMEs.
Through the procurement system, 58 contractors were appointed in the financial year, comprising MMEs (14 women, 14 youth and 
12 general), six established contractors (four women, no youth and two general) and 12 trained by NHBRC (six women, four youth 
and two general).
An SMME support programme has been implemented in partnership with the NHBRC and NURCHA, which includes training and 
mentorship to ensure sustainable work opportunities in the metro. A structured training programme has been offered, based on an 
assessment of required competencies.

• 117 emerging contractors have been trained in bricklaying

• 50 emerging contractors trained in plastering

• 139 women contractors trained in home-building skills 

• 44 military veterans were trained in home-building skills

• 61 youth brigades are currently on construction sites for their practicals and the Border Training Centre has been engaged 
to mentor and train the youth brigades on site and on completion to be certificated in building and civil engineering

• 29 learners were offered technical skills by the NHBRC from Chatty 1060 and Joe Slovo West

Northern Cape

Sustained progress and completed the Heuningvlei Project (22 households). The installation of civil services in Snake Park surpassed 
the target of 600, and 618 sites were completed. 

Western Cape

Due to impeded progress on certain projects – notably Joe Slovo Phase 3 and Boystown – additional projects were added to the 
existing portfolio to compensate for the challenges. A total of 1 994 units were achieved with 2 392 under construction at various 
stages at the end of the financial year. A total of 3 386 sites was delivered.

Region B – Limpopo, Gauteng, North West

Limpopo 

The Agency has an existing IP and medium-term operational programme (MTOP) concluded with the provincial department 
of cooperative governance, human settlements and traditional affairs. The province has assigned responsibility to the HDA to 
implement the people’s housing programme, disaster housing programme and the military veterans housing programme. The 
Agency is also implementing the Altoostyd catalytic project in Lephalale. Over and above programme implementation, the Agency 
also assists the province in overall human settlements planning and project preparation. 
 
During the year under review, the Agency delivered 379 units in terms of the disaster housing programme, 93 units delivered in 
terms of the enhanced people’s housing programme and 11 units delivered in terms of the military veterans housing programme. 
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Programme Performance Information continued

Gauteng 

The Agency has existing IPs and medium-term operational programmes concluded with the provincial department of human 
settlements. The Agency supports the province and municipalities with programme and implementation support. During the 
year under review, the Agency delivered 2 358 housing units located within the area of jurisdiction of the cities of Johannesburg, 
Tshwane and Ekurhuleni; 3 442 sites and services completed from the projects funded by the Urban Settlement Development Grant 
(USDG) and 1 637 beneficiaries were approved. 6 907 172 hectares of land has been acquired for Gauteng Department of Human 
Settlements in the City of Ekurhuleni.

North West 

The Agency has an existing IP and medium-term operational programme concluded with the provincial department of cooperative 
governance and human settlements. Since 2011, the Agency has assisted the province to acquire various privately-owned land 
parcels required for human settlements development. The Agency has furthermore assisted the province to access state land required 
for human settlements tenure upgrading purposes. During the year under review, the role of the Agency increased to become an 
implementing agent for top structures and sites and services projects.

Sub-programme 4B: Land management

Built environment is responsible for amongst others, the fast-tracking of the release of land for housing and human settlements 
targeting the poor and middle income households, which falls under Outcome 8 of the 2014-19 medium-term strategic framework.  

The department achieved the following in the 2017/18 financial year:

• Land acquisition
 

The built environment programme is responsible for implementing the Outcome 8 MTSF target for 10 000 hectares of land released. 
The annual target of 3 000 was exceeded by 329 hectares, achieving a total of 3 329 hectares. The Agency further surpassed the 
MTSF target of 10 000 hectares by achieving a cumulative total of 16 837 hectares of land acquired and released and thereby 
exceeding the target by over 68%. The released land will make a significant contribution to various human settlements programmes 
and projects to meet housing delivery demand within South Africa.

• Rezoning of land

The HDA facilitated the rezoning of over 1 564 hectares in various projects in different provinces yielding over 14 241 stands and/
or housing opportunities. Significant numbers of these projects are located within major cities such as Johannesburg and Ekurhuleni 
metros, and secondary municipalities like Polokwane and Rustenburg, where the demand for housing is very high. 

• Land/project packaging 

The Agency has completed five development proposals for Farm Eloffspark 772Jr (Capital Park, Hartebeespoort 238Jr located in 
Tshwane, ERF 1 816 Bethlehem, ERF 2 118 Hamilton located in the Free State, Sheffield Road Project in Phillipi, Western Cape, and 
Queenspark in East London. The combined yield for the projects is estimated at 7 043 units at a projected cost of R2.9 billion with 
delivery anticipated to be completed by the end of 2022.

• Land holding

The land holding unit is currently managing 24 properties which are 9 992.547 hectares in extent.  The unit has implemented 100% 
of the land-holding plan to ensure that that the HDA property portfolio is well-maintained and managed. All the leases that were 
due to expire during the year were duly renewed or formally terminated, and the collection rate at the end of the year stood at
over 111%.



48ANNUAL REPORT 2017|2018

7. Annual Programme Performance Reports

Sub-programme 1A:  Office of the CEO
Sub-programme purpose: To implement strategic leadership and good governance
Strategic 
objectives

Key activities Indicator
number

Performance
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 
target

Actual Variance Reason for 
variance

To provide 
stategic 
leadership and 
support in the 
implementation 
of HDA 
mandate

Develop and 
Implement 
strategic and 
organisational 
frameworks 
and systems
to ensure
implementation 
of the new 
mandate and 
on-going 
programmes 

1A.1 Business 
case and 
strategic plan 
developed 
and 
implemented

 No baseline Business 
case and 
strategic plan 
implemented 
and set 
targets in the 
APP met

Not achieved 

Business case 
implemented 
however not 
all targets 
were achieved

Not all targets 
in the APP for 
2017

The first 
part of the 
KPI, i.e. the 
business case 
and strategic 
plan has been 
successfully 
implemented, 
however not 
all targets 
were achieved 
due to various 
reasons 
such as 
delays in the 
appointment 
of contractors 
and 
withdrawal of 
some projects 
from HDA’s 
portfolio

Reposition 
and align the 
organisation 
to the new 
mandate

1A.2 Strategic 
interventions 
to align the 
structures, 
systems, 
processes and 
capabilities 
to the new 
mandate 
implemented

No baseline Identified 
structures, 
systems, 
processes and 
capabilities 
developed 
and 
implemented

Achieved 

Structures, 
system, 
processes and 
capabilities 
implemented

None None

Table 7: Annual performance report for sub-programme 1A: Office of the CEO 

Annual performance report for Programme 1: Administration
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7. Annual Programme Performance Reports

Sub-programme 1B:  Office of the CFO
Sub-programme purpose: To ensure that the HDA is financially sustainable
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 
target

Annual 
performance

Variance Reason for 
variance

To ensure 
that the HDA 
is financially 
sustainable 
over the 
period of the 
MTEF

Formulate a 
budget for 
HDA that sets 
out operational 
and capital 
requirements

1B.1 Budget for 
the HDA 
formulated 
and approved 
in time

No baseline Budget for 
the HDA 
formulated 
and approved 
in time

Achieved

Budget 
submitted 
with the 
HDA annual 
performance 
plan 2018-
2019

None None

Monitor budget 
implementation 
and report 
expenditure 
against budget 
to meet 
legislative and 
contractual 
requirements

1B.2 % within 
which 
expenditure 
of funds 
received is 
kept 

No baseline Ensure that 
expenditure is 
within a 5% 
variance (over 
or under) of 
budgeted 
funds received

Achieved

All 
expenditure 
is kept within 
the 5% 
variance

None None

Develop and 
implement 
systems 
to ensure 
operational 
and capital 
requirements 
are 
implemented

1B.3 Systems 
to ensure 
operational 
and capital 
requirements 
are 
implemented 
developed

No baseline Reports 
showing 
100% 
compliance 
produced

Achieved None None

To ensure 
that the HDA 
is financially 
sustainable 
over the 
period of the 
MTEF

Develop and 
implement a 
comprehensive 
financial 
modeling for 
long term 
sustainability of 
HDA

1B.4 Financial 
modelling 
developed 
and 
implemented

No baseline Development 
of financial 
modelling 
commenced

Not achieved 

HDA financial 
model has 
not been 
developed

None There was 
a delay in 
process to 
procure a ser-
vice provider, 
this target has 
been included 
in the 2018-
2019 APP

To ensure 
that the HDA 
is financially 
sustainable 
over the 
period of the 
MTEF

Develop and 
monitor imple-
mentation of 
systems to man-
age finance, 
budgets and 
performance 
management, 
SCM and risk 
management 
compliance

1B.5 Unqualified 
financial audit 
opinion on 
the financial 
statements 
obtained 
from external 
auditors

Unqualified 
financial audit 
opinion ob-
tained for the 
2016-2017 
financial year

Unqualified 
financial 
audit report 
for 2017/18 
from external 
auditors

Achieved

All finance 
controls are 
within the 
legislative 
requirements

None None

Table 8: Annual performance report for sub-programme 1B: Office of the CFO



50ANNUAL REPORT 2017|2018

Table 9: Annual performance report for sub-programme 1C: Corporate Support Services

Annual Programme Performance Reports
continued

Sub-programme 1C:  Corporate support 
Sub-programme purpose: Enhance efficiency and effectiveness of the organisation
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator 
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 
target

Annual 
performance

Variance Reasons for 
variance

To ensure 
that the 
organisational 
structure is 
reviewed, 
approved and 
implemented

Develop, 
finalise and 
approve 
organisational 
structure and 
recruit and 
place staff

1C.1 Organisational 
structure 
developed, 
approved and 
placement 
of staff 
commenced

Organisational 
structure 
developed, 
approved and 
placement 
of staff 
commenced

Organisational 
structure 
developed, 
approved and 
placement 
of staff 
commenced

Achieved

Final 
organisational 
structure 
completed 
and approved 
Placement 
of staff in 
line with 
approved 
organisational 
structure

None None

To ensure 
that the 
organisation 
functions 
at optimal 
capacity at all 
times  

Fill all 
prioritised 
and budgeted 
posts in the 
approved 
organisational 
structure 

1C.2 All prioritised 
and budgeted 
posts in the 
approved 
organisational 
structure filled

100% of 
prioritised 
positions filled 
in accordance 
with approved 
organisational 
structure

100% of 
prioritised 
positions filled 
in accordance 
with approved 
organisational 
structure 

Achieved

100%
Prioritised 
positions filled 
in accordance 
with 
approved 
organisational 
structure

None None

To promote 
HDA as an 
employer of 
choice and 
that supports 
social and 
community 
development

Develop and 
implement 
employee 
support 
and social 
responsibility 
programmes 

1C.3 Employee 
support 
and social 
responsibility 
programmes 
implemented

No baseline Employee 
support 
and social 
responsibility 
programmes 
developed

Achieved

Employee 
support 
and social 
responsibility 
programmes 
implemented

None None



51 ANNUAL REPORT 2017|2018

Annual Programme Performance Reports
continued

Table 10: Annual performance report for sub-programme 2A: Organisational Performance

Annual performance report for programme 2:  Strategic support, organisational 
effectiveness and stakeholder engagement

Sub-programme 2A: Organisational performance
Sub-programme purpose: To develop and implement a long-term vision and strategy for the HDA to 
achieve its mandate
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator 
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 
Target

Annual 
performance

Variance Reasons for 
variance

To ensure the 
development 
and 
implementation 
of a long-term 
vision and 
strategy for the 
HDA

A workshop 
held with the 
HDA executive 
committee 
every six 
months to 
review and 
refine the 
strategic plan 

An annual 
evaluation 
undertaken of 
the strategic 
plan and 
revisions made 
accordingly

2A.1 Approved 
three-year 
strategic plan 
for the HDA

Six monthly 
reviews by 
the executive 
committee
annual 
evaluation

No baseline Three-year 
strategic plan 
finalised by 
end August 
2017

Annual 
evaluation in 
November 
2017

Achieved

Annual 
performance 
plan and 
strategic plan 
2018-2023 
completed and 
approved by 
HDA board

None None

To ensure the 
development 
and effective 
implementation 
and monitoring 
of the annual 
performance 
plan

Produce 
reports on 
implementation 
of annual 
performance 
plan

2A.2 Reports 
produced 
100% 
according to 
set reporting 
requirements

No baseline Reports 
produced 
100% 
according to 
set reporting 
requirements

Achieved

100% reports 
developed 
in line with 
requirements 
as defined 
in the HDA 
organisational 
performance 
Management 
Framework

None None

Intervene 
to resolve 
blockages in 
implementation

2A.3 90% of 
targets in the 
APP are met

No baseline 90% of 
targets in the 
APP are met

Achieved

90.4% of 
targets in the 
APP were met

9.5% Not all
organisational 
target for the 
year under 
review were 
achieved

To ensure   
implementation 
of good 
corporate 
governance

Report 
quarterly on 
the compliance 
matrix to the 
NDHS

2A.4 % compliance 
with 
governance 
protocols and 
standards 
as provided 
in the 
compliance 
matrix 

No baseline 100% 
compliance 
with 
governance 
protocols and 
standards as 
provided in the 
compliance 
matrix

Achieved

100% 
compliance to 
the compliance 
matrix

None None

To ensure 
effective 
monitoring and 
improvement 
of 
organisational 
performance

Develop and 
implement 
organisational 
performance 
management 
framework

2A.5 Organisational 
performance 
management 
framework 
developed and 
implemented

No baseline Organisational 
performance 
management 
framework 
developed and 
implemented

Achieved

Organisational 
performance 
management 
framework 
development 
Timelines for 
planning and 
reporting as 
defined by the 
framework 
adhered to

None None
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Annual Programme Performance Reports
continued

Sub-programme 2B: Marketing, communication and SIR
Sub-programme purpose: To undertake effective stakeholder management and communications
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator 
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 target Annual 
performance

Variance Reasons for 
variance

To build 
partnerships 
and undertake 
stakeholder 
management 
so as to 
support HDA 
programmes

Develop and 
implement 
stakeholder and 
intergovernmental 
strategy aligned to 
the developer role

2B.1 Stakeholder and 
intergovernmental 
strategy aligned to 
the developer role 
developed and 
implemented

No 
baseline

Platforms and 
forums for 
stakeholder 
management 
established 
and used to 
advance HDA 
programmes

Achieved

All targeted 
stakeholders 
were engaged 
through the 
established 
platforms, to 
advance HDA 
programmes

None None

To undertake 
effective 
communication 
on the HDA‘s 
activities

Develop and 
implement a 
communication 
plan 

2B.2 Communication 
implementation 
plan developed, 
activities 
undertaken 
and set targets 
achieved

No 
baseline

Communication 
implementation 
plan developed, 
activities 
undertaken 
and set targets 
achieved

Achieved

All activities 
in the 
communication 
implementation 
plan 
implemented

None None

Table 11: Annual performance report for sub-programme 2B: Marketing, Communications 
and Stakeholder Management and Inter-governmental Relations
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Annual Programme Performance Reports
continued

Sub-programme 2C: Spatial information and analysis
Sub-programme purpose: To identify and evaluate land parcels and projects for development by the 
HDA within an overall investment framework of effective spatial transformation and targeting of human 
settlements
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator 
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 
target

Annual 
performance

Variance Reasons 
for 
variance

To ensure 
acquisition of 
strategic land 
and landed 
properties for 
development
by HDA 

Identify and 
acquire strategic 
land and landed 
properties for 
development 
projects aligned
to the MSP 

2C.1 % of land parcels 
and landed 
properties acquired 
and projects with 
investment
potential
submitted 

No baseline 100% of 
land parcels 
and projects 
submitted

Achieved

Reports 
outlining land 
and landed 
properties 
developed

None None

To ensure 
effective 
M&E of land 
development 
for the 
achievement 
of spatial 
transformation 
in human 
settlements

Develop an M&E 
framework to 
monitor and
report on 
alignment to
MSP 

2C.2 Quarterly reports
on alignment to 
MSP produced at
set intervals

Two 
monitoring 
reports with 
research and 
impact studies 
done related to 
M&E of spatial 
transformation 
and targeting 

Two 
monitoring 
reports with 
research 
and impact 
studies done 
related to 
M&E of spatial 
transformation 
and targeting

Achieved

Two 
monitoring 
reports 
completed
Finalised land 
audit report 
of 368 land 
parcels
Finalised level 
3 Report of 
5 projects 
published and 
workshopped 
action 
research 
reports

None None

To ensure 
integrated 
spatial 
planning

Develop a 
comprehensive 
MSP

2C.3 MSP developed 
and implemented

Develop MSP MSP in place Achieved

MSP 
developed

None None

Table 12: Annual performance report for sub-programme 2C: Spatial Information
Analysis
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Annual Programme Performance Reports
continued

Sub-programme 3A: National technical assistance (NTT)
Sub-programme purpose: To provide technical services so as to enable the implementation of human 
settlement developments by the HDA
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator 
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 target Annual 
performance

Variance Reason for 
variance

To ensure 
provision 
of technical 
support services 
to (programme 
3B and 
programme 4A 
and B) so as 
to enable the 
implementation 
of human 
settlement 
developments 
or the 
implementation 
of priority 
programmes

Provide 
technical 
support 
services to 
programme 3 
within agreed 
time frames 
and costs

3A.1 % of requests 
responded 
within agreed 
timeframes 
and costs

No 
baseline

100% of 
requests 
responded to 
in the agreed 
time frame and 
costs

Achieved

100% 
requests 
for NTT 
technical 
support 
intervention 
have been 
provided 
with support

None None

Table 13: Annual performance report for sub-programme 3A: National Technical 
Assistance

Annual performance report for programme 3: Development management and operations
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Annual Programme Performance Reports
continued

Sub-programme 3B: National programme design and management
Sub-programme purpose: To package and manage the implementation of national priority programmes
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator 
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 
target

Annual 
performance

Variance Reasons for 
variance

To ensure the 
packaging, 
management 
and 
implementation 
of national 
priority 
programmes 
as agreed with 
the Minister, 
including 
catalytic 
projects, 
mining towns 
and NUSP

Develop, 
implement and 
monitor the 
business plan 
for priority 
projects 

3B.1 Number 
of priority 
programmes 
and projects 
implemented  

Three Three 
programmes 
managed for 
implementation 
including 
catalytic 
projects, 
mining towns 
and NUSP 
implemented

Achieved

Three national 
priority 
programmes 
have been 
implemented. 
i.e. catalytic 
projects, 
informal 
settlement 
upgrade 
programme 
and the 
mining towns 
programme

None None

Provide 
support for 
implementation 
of national 
upgrading 
of informal 
settlements 
programme

3B.2 Number of 
informal 
settlements 
projects 
provided with 
implementation 
support

356 
informal 
settlement 
projects 
provided 
with 
technical 
support

Five projects 
provided with 
implementation 
support

Achieved

Six projects 
provided with 
implementation 
support

1 The target was 
exceeded as 
a result of a 
request from 
KZN to provide 
support to 
an additional 
project. The 
following 
projects were 
provided with 
implementation 
support
Smashblock, 
Nkaneng, 
Promised Land,
Noordgedacht,
Jabulani, Amaoti

To ensure 
effective 
implementation 
of   strategic/
catalytic human 
settlement 
developments

Implement 
and identified 
catalytic 
projects 

3B.3 Number 
of projects 
identified and 
implemented 

99 
projects 
identified 
and 
provided 
with 
support

50 catalytic 
projects 
managed for 
implementation 
(20 projects 
selected)

Achieved

A total of 
58 catalytic 
projects 
have been 
managed for 
implementation

8 To date 48 
government-
led national 
priority human 
settlements 
catalytic projects 
have been 
approved/
confirmed by 
MINMEC for 
programme 
delivery. An 
additional 10 
with three 
private (Northam, 
Leratong and 
Helderwyk) and 
7 mega (Savanna 
city, Malibongwe, 
Clayville, 
Fleurhof, Esselen 
Park, Riverside 
view, Southhills).

Table 14: Annual performance report for programme 3B: National Programme Design and 
Management  
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Sub-programme 3B: National programme design and management
Sub-programme purpose: To package and manage the implementation of national priority programmes
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator 
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 
target

Annual 
performance

Variance Reasons for 
variance

This is due to the 
prioritisation of 
the programme 
by the Gauteng 
provincial 
department 
of human 
settlements

To ensure 
that identified 
human 
settlement 
development 
projects are 
unblocked and 
implemented

Identify projects 
requiring 
‘unblocking’ 
and fast 
track their 
implementation

3B.4 Number of 
identified 
projects 
unblocked and 
implemented 

No 
baseline

Five of the 
identified 
projects 
unblocked and 
implemented

Achieved

Five projects 
were unblocked

None None

Mining towns: 
To ensure 
revitalisation of 
the distressed 
mining 
communities in 
the identified 
22 mining 
towns, and 
12 labour-
sending areas 
with mining 
companies

Intervention 
in 22 mining 
towns

3B.5 Number of 
transformation 
plans

No 
baseline

Five 
transformation 
plans

Achieved

Seven 
transformation 
plans were 
finalised

2 The following 
transformation 
plans were 
developed:
Moses Kotane,
Greater Tubatse,
Mogale City,
Randwest City,
Merafong,
Kgatelopele,
Elias Motsoaledi
The target was 
exceeded due 
to approval of 
transformation 
plans at 
municipal level 
moving quicker 
than anticipated

Mining towns: 
To ensure 
revitalisation of 
the distressed 
mining 
communities in 
the identified 
22 mining 
towns and 
12 labour-
sending areas 
with mining 
companies

Intervention 
in 22 mining 
towns and 12 
labour sending 
areas

3B.6 Implementation 
strategy for 
mining towns 
and labour 
sending areas 
developed

No 
baseline

One 
implementation 
strategy for 
mining towns 
and labour-
sending areas

Achieved

One 
implementation 
strategy 
developed

None None

12 labour 
sending areas

3B.7 Number of 
transformation 
plans 
developed

No 
baseline

12 
transformation 
plans 

Not achieved 12 Focus shifted 
from developing 
transformation 
plans for labour-
sending areas 
to developing 
strategies for 
labour sending 
areas

Table 14: Annual performance report for programme 3B: National Programme Design and 
Management continued

Annual Programme Performance Reports
continued
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Sub-programme 3B: National programme design and management
Sub-programme purpose: To package and manage the implementation of national priority programmes
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator 
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 
target

Annual 
performance

Variance Reasons for 
variance

One strategy 
for five labour-
sending areas 
in KZN in the 
Zululand District 
Municipality 
(Abaqulusi, 
eDumbe, 
Nongoma, Ulundi 
and UPongolo)
A strategy for 
seven labour 
sending areas of 
the Eastern Cape 
in two district 
municipalities 
of Alfred Nzo 
(Mbizana, 
Ntabankulu) 
and OR Tambo 
(King Sabata 
Dalindyebo, 
Nyandeni, Nquza 
Hill, Mhlonto, 
Port Saint Johns) 
is underway
Alfred Nzo - 
Plan for the 
procurement 
of a consultant 
to develop a 
strategy currently 
underway
OR Tambo - 
Plan for the 
procurement 
of a consultant 
to develop a 
strategy currently 
underway.

Table 14: Annual performance report for programme 3B: National Programme Design and 
Management  continued

Annual Programme Performance Reports
continued
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Table 15: Annual performance report for sub-programme 4A: Regional Coordination and 
Human Settlements Implementation Support Services

Annual Programme Performance Reports
continued

The annual performance for programme 4: Built environment implementation

Sub-programme 4A: Regional coordination and human settlements implementation support services 
Sub-programme purpose: To accelerate delivery of resilient, integrated and sustainable human settlements
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator 
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 target Annual 
performance

Variance Reasons for 
variance

To enhance 
capacity and 
provide projects 
implementation 
services to 
provinces and 
municipalities 
for human 
settlements 
development

Build 
capacity for 
implementation 
of human 
settlements 
projects

4A.1 Number of 
provinces 
provided with 
capacity support 
as per MTOPs 
and business 
plans

Three 
provinces

Three provinces 
provided 
with capacity 
support as per 
MTOPs and 
business plans

Achieved

Three provinces 
provided 
with capacity 
support

None None

Deliver/support 
serviced lands 
for human 
settlements

4A.2 Number 
of human 
settlements 
serviced sites 
delivered/
supported

2 896 
serviced sites 

5 203 serviced 
sites

Achieved

A total of 
7 446 was 
achieved

2 243 Due to the 
slow pace in 
the delivery 
of projects 
such as Joe 
Slovo in the 
Western Cape, 
additional 
projects were 
identified 
that required 
the HDA’s 
support - 
these projects 
were added 
to the HDA’s 
portfolio and 
the addition of 
these projects 
resulted in 
improved 
performance 
for this 
indicator

Deliver/support 
serviced lands 
for human 
settlements

4A.3 Number 
of human 
settlements 
units delivered/
supported 
delivered

6 317 
housing units 

6 518 housing 
units

Not achieved

A total of 
5 691 units 
achieved

827 
housing 
units

Delivery of 
housing 
units was 
encumbered 
by the delay 
in appointing 
new 
contractors 
due to 
uncertainty 
regarding 
timeous 
receipt of 
funds from 
the provincial 
department 
of human 
settlements. 
Delivery was 
also impeded 
in the Western 
Cape
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Annual Programme Performance Reports
continued

Sub-programme 4A: Regional coordination and human settlements implementation support services 
Sub-programme purpose: To accelerate delivery of resilient, integrated and sustainable human settlements
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator 
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 target Annual 
performance

Variance Reasons for 
variance

To facilitate the 
transformation 
of the human 
settlement 
sector and 
empowerment 
of previously 
disadvantaged 

Develop 
and sign 
transformation 
and 
empowerment 
agreements 
to transform 
the human 
settlement 
sector

4A.4 Number of T/E 
agreements 
signed

New baseline 19 T/E signed 
agreements

Achieved

21 
transformation 
and 
empowerment 
agreements 
have been 
concluded

2 The target was 
exceeded due 
to increased 
interest by the 
sector and 
partners to 
ensure there 
is meaningful 
transformation 
and 
empowerment 
of the 
previously 
disadvantaged

Number of 
implementation 
frameworks 
signed with 
developers

Five
implementation 
frameworks 
signed

Achieved

Five 
implementation 
frameworks 
have been 
concluded
Framework 
agreements 
have been 
signed with 
partners to 
ensure that 
communities 
and groups 
gain access to 
opportunities 
for 
empowerment 
in the human 
settlement 
sector

None None

Table 15: Annual performance report for sub-programme 4A: Regional Coordination and 
Human Settlements Implementation Support Services  continued
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Table 16: Annual performance report for sub-programme 4A: Regional Coordination and 
Human Settlements Implementation Support Services (REGION A)

Sub-programme 4A: Regional coordination and human settlements implementation support services 
(REGION A)
Sub-programme purpose: To accelerate delivery of resilient, integrated and sustainable human settlements
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator 
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 
target

Annual 
performance

Variance Reasons for 
variance

To enhance 
capacity and 
provide projects 
implementation 
services to 
provinces and 
municipalities 
for human 
settlements 
development

Deliver/
support 
serviced lands 
for human 
settlements

4A.2 Number 
of human 
settlements 
units delivered 
in the 
Western Cape 

1 250 
serviced 
sites

1 335 
serviced sites

Achieved

A total 
of 3 386 
sites were 
delivered

2 051 sites 
serviced

Due to impeded 
progress with certain 
projects – notably 
Joe Slovo phase 3 
and Boystown – 
additional projects 
were added to the 
existing portfolio in 
Q3 to compensate 
for the challenges 
experienced

1 325 
housing 
units

1 595 
housing units

Achieved 

A total of 1 
994 units was 
achieved

399 housing 
units

Due to impeded 
progress with certain 
projects – notably 
Joe Slovo phase 3 
and Boystown – 
additional projects 
were added to the 
existing portfolio in 
Q3 to compensate 
for the challenges 
experienced

4A.3 Number 
of human 
settlements 
units delivered 
in the Eastern 
Cape 

2 616 
housing 
units

(0 serviced 
sites)

2 367 
housing units

Not achieved

856 housing 
units achieved

1 511 
housing 
units

The delay in 
appointing new 
contractors due 
to uncertainty 
regarding timeous 
receipt of funds 
from the provincial 
department of 
human settlements 
had a knock-on 
effect on attainment 
of units resulting in 
only 856 units to be 
constructed out of 
the 2 367 planned 
with 793 units in-
progress at end of 
the financial year

4A.4 Number 
of human 
settlements 
units 
delivered in 
the Northern 
Cape 

No 
baseline

600 serviced 
sites (0 
housing units)

Achieved

A total of 
618 were 
delivered

18 serviced 
sites

he Snake Park 
project progressed 
better than expected 
yielding an extra 18 
serviced sites



61 ANNUAL REPORT 2017|2018

Annual Programme Performance Reports
continued

Table 17: Annual performance report for sub-programme 4A: Regional Coordination and 
Human Settlements Implementation Support Services (REGION B)

Sub-programme 4A: regional coordination and human settlements implementation support services 
(REGION B)
Sub-programme purpose: To accelerate delivery of resilient, integrated and sustainable human settlements
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator 
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 
target

Annual 
performance

Variance Reasons for 
variance

To enhance 
capacity and 
provide projects 
implementation 
services to 
provinces and 
municipalities 
for human 
settlements 
development

Build 
capacity for 
implementation 
of human 
settlements 
projects

4A.5 Number of 
provinces 
provided with 
capacity support 
as per MTOPs 
and business 
plans

Three 
provinces 
provided 
with capacity 
support as 
per MTOPs 
and business 
plans

Three 
provinces 
provided 
with capacity 
support as 
per MTOPs 
and business 
plans

Achieved

Three 
provinces 
provided 
with capacity 
support

None None

Deliver/support 
serviced lands 
for human 
settlements

4A.6 Number 
of human 
settlements 
units delivered 
in Limpopo 

No baseline 500 serviced 
sites

Not achieved

0

500 serviced 
sited

Project 
withdrawn 
from HDA 
portfolio

4A.7 379 housing 
units

295 housing 
units

Achieved

A total of 483 
housing units 
was delivered

188 housing 
units

The 
management 
of contractors 
on site 
assisted to 
make sure 
that delivery 
is expedited 
leading 
to more 
housing units 
delivered than 
it was initially 
anticipated

To facilitate the 
transformation 
of the human 
settlement 
sector and 
empowerment 
of previously 
disadvantaged 

Number 
of human 
settlements 
units delivered 
in Gauteng 

4A.8 Number 
of human 
settlements 
serviced sites 
delivered/
supported

1 646 
serviced sites

2 768 
serviced sites

Achieved

A total 3 442 
sites were 
serviced

674 serviced 
sites

There has 
been an 
acceleration 
of project 
delivery in 
Gauteng 
leading 
to over-
achievement 
of targets

4A.9 Number 
of human 
settlements 
units delivered/
supported

1 997 top 
structures

2 261 top 
structures 
completed

Achieved

2 358 
housing units
(top 
structures) 
completed

97 top 
structures 
completed

There has 
been an 
acceleration 
of project 
delivery in 
Gauteng 
leading to 
an over-
achievement 
of targets
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Sub-programme 4A: Regional coordination and human settlements implementation support services 
(REGION C)
Sub-programme purpose: To accelerate delivery of resilient, integrated and sustainable human settlements
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator 
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 target Annual 
performance

Variance Reasons for 
variance

To enhance 
capacity and 
provide projects 
implementation 
services to 
provinces and 
municipalities 
for human 
settlements 
development

Projects 
implementation 
and capacity 
enhancement 
programmes 
for human 
settlements 
development

4A.10 Number of 
provinces 
provided 
with capacity 
support as 
per MTOPs 
and business 
plans

Three 
provinces 
provided 
with 
capacity 
support 
as per 
MTOPs and 
business 
plans

Three provinces 
provided 
with capacity 
support as per 
MTOPs and 
business plans

Achieved

Three provinces 
provided with 
capacity support 
as per MTOPs 
and business 
plans

None None

Table 18: Annual performance report for sub-programme 4A: Regional Coordination and 
Human Settlements Implementation Support Services (REGION C)

Table 19: Annual performance report for sub-programme 4B: Land management 

Sub-programme 4B: Land management 
Sub-programme purpose: Promote integrated spatial planning and sustainable land development
Strategic 
objective

Key activities Indicator 
number

Performance 
measure/
indicator

Baseline 2017/18 target Annual 
performance

Variance Reasons for 
variance

To ensure the 
acceleration 
of the release 
of well-
located land 
for housing 
and human 
settlements

Identify and 
acquire land 
for human 
settlement 
developments

4B.1 Number of 
hectares 
of well-
located land 
(targeting 
poor and 
middle-
income 
households) 
acquired or 
released

6 288.065 
ha acquired

3 000 ha Achieved

3 329.446 
ha of land 
acquired

329.446 ha 
of land

The target 
was exceeded 
due to 
1117.9537 
ha released 
by the 
department 
of rural 
development 
and land 
reform to 
Thembisilie 
Hani Local 
Municipality 
for human 
settlements 
development

4B.2 Number of 
hectares 
of land 
facilitated for 
rezoning

New 
baseline

1 000 ha Achieved

1 564.129 
ha of land 
facilitated for 
rezoning

564.129 
ha of land 
facilitated 
for rezoning

Land 
measuring 
526.2704 
ha within 
cities of 
Johannesburg 
and 
Ekurhuleni 
metropolitan 
municipalities 
rezoned for 
sustainable 
human 
settlements 
development. 
This led to the 
target being 
exceeded by 
564.129 ha
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How are we governed 

The board is committed to sound governance and ensures that the agency’s business is conducted in accordance with the highest 
standards of corporate governance. Risk management and internal control systems are key to ensuring good governance is in place, 
practised, designed in accordance with best practice, and incorporates the principles as espoused in the King VI report on corporate 
governance, as well as the governance requirements of the HDA Act, no 23 of 2008, Companies Act, no. 71 of 2008 (Companies 
Act), and Code of Conduct of Public Service. 

Governance principles and the main duties of the chairperson, committees and CEO are clearly documented.  The board charter 
includes a schedule of matters reserved for the board and the terms of reference of various board committees.  The governance 
framework has been developed to meet the agency’s strategic objectives, compliance requirements, balancing the interests of 
stakeholders, minimising and avoiding conflicts of interest, and practising good corporate behaviour. Sound corporate governance 
practices are embedded in our values, culture, and processes.

The Agency is managed in an efficient, accountable, transparent, and ethical manner. This ethos is embedded in all the agency’s 
activities and thus the HDA’s governance framework encompasses more than compliance with legislation.  

Responsibility and accountability 

The board provides leadership and strategic oversight, and oversees the internal control environment sustaining value to the 
company’s shareholder and stakeholders. The board ensures adherence to principles of good governance and accountability 
as espoused in King VI and its board charter. All of the members of the board are individually and collectively aware of their 
responsibilities to the group’s stakeholders, and each director brings experience, independence and judgement. The board ensures 
regular review of its performance and core governance.

The governance structure is as follows:

• The board has delegated certain responsibilities to appropriate board committees to support itself in its oversight 
responsibility

• The executive committee (EXCO), inclusive of executives and business unit heads, addresses critical and material business 
issues and deals with operational issues.

The day-to-day governance is the responsibility of HDA’s Executive Committee, which regularly reports to the board and its 
subcommittees.  The board and the respective committee chairmen play an important role in addressing the governance issues that 
arise from time to time.  These board members have regular interactions with executive directors, senior management, and other 
stakeholders.

Board Structure

The group has a unitary board, comprising of two executive directors, the CEO and the CFO, as well as 7 non-executive directors, 
who all meet the board’s independence criteria in terms of being free from any business relationship that could generally hamper 
their objectivity or judgement on the business and activities of the HDA. The following table depicts the Board Composition and 
available vacancies:

8. Corporate Governance
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8. Corporate Governance

BOARD

SHAREHOLDER

AUDIT & RISK
COMMITTEE

CORPORATE
SUPPORT & 

RENUMERATION 
COMMITTEE

LAND,
PLANNING &

DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE

PROJECT
INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

SOCIAL &
ETHICS

COMMITTEEE

EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEEE

Board members Date of 
appointment

End date of 
appointment (contract)

Gender Race Comments

Mr Mavuso Msimang 04/11/2015 03/11/2018 Male Black Term ends 03 October 2018

Mr Pravin Singh 04/11/2015 03/11/2018 Male Indian Term ends 03 October 2018

Ms Thuthuka Songeiwa 04/11/2015 03/11/2018 Female Black Term ends 03 October 2018

Mr Maanda Mutheiwana 04/11/2015 03/11/2018 Male Black Term ends 03 October 2018

Ms Leona Archary 04/11/2015 Resigned 31/07/2017 Female Coloured Resigned 31/07/2017

Mr Mzukisi Mpahlwa 26/05/2017 25/05/2020 Male Black Term ends 25 April 2020

Mr Thozamile Botha 26/05/2017 25/05/2020 Male Black Term ends 25 April 2020

Mr Lamla Jiyose 22/02/2018 25/05/2021 Male Black Newly appointed

Vacancies Yes No Number Comments

Have the vacancies been 
reported to the NDH?

No to HDA  Section 9 the 
Board should comprise of 
a member designated by 
Minister of Public Works; a 
member designated by the 
Minister for Land Affairs; 
and a member designated 
by the Minister for Provincial 
& Local Government - this 
has been brought to the 
attention of the NDHS.

Figure 16: Governance structure of the HDA

Table 20: Board composition
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Appointment and retirement of directors

In terms of HDA Act, the shareholder appoints the chairperson, CEO and non-executive directors. The remaining executive director 
is appointed by the board with the approval of the shareholder. The shareholder reviews the composition of the board on an annual 
basis, which ensures the rotation of directors at appropriate intervals and the board remains dynamic in its thinking and abilities. 
The term of office for the non-executive directors is a period of three years. Retiring non- executive directors are eligible for re-
appointment and their retirement is staggered to ensure continuity and stability.

The executive directors comprise the CEO and CFO, who both have five-year contracts.
The shareholder takes cognisance of the Agency’s needs in terms of skills, experience, diversity, size of the agency and demographics 
in appointing the non-executive directors.
 

Formalisation of director appointments and remuneration

The executives have contracts of employment with the company and are subject to the HDA’s conditions of service. The non-
executive directors have their appointments formalised through a letter of appointment from the shareholder. The appointment letter 
indicates the non-executive directors’ terms of office, legislation governing their appointment, as well as information pertaining to 
their remuneration. 

Remuneration for non-executive directors is determined by the shareholder based on the regulations and guidelines issued by the 
Minister of Public Service and Administration and the National Treasury remuneration guidelines.  The non-executive directors’ fees 
are based on their attendance of board and committee meetings.

Directorial independence, effectiveness and performance evaluation

The areas that are assessed as part of the effectiveness review include:

• Board size and composition

• Independence

• Terms of reference

• Agenda and meeting preparation

• Board meetings

• Board functioning and processes

• Board committees

• Leadership and support

• Board effectiveness and evaluation

• Board orientation and development
 

The independence of directors is considered with reference to ensuring that directors act in the best interest of the company as 
guided by the King III report, the HDA Act, the Companies Act and best practice. Accordingly, the independence of individual non-
executive directors is considered at every board meeting and audited every year as part of the Agency’s external audit. The board 
effectiveness review is done to ensure continual improvement of the board, as well as ensuring that governance best practice is 
applied.

The board evaluation for the reporting period confirmed that the board was effective in performing its oversight role and that 
the necessary structures and processes are well established and functional. The overall opinion indicated that the HDA has a 
well-functioning and effective board. The evaluation also highlighted that the board is fulfilling its role and responsibilities, and 
discharging its accountability satisfactorily. The results of the review were considered by the board. These results were submitted to 
the shareholder representative to consider, as part of the decision regarding the composition of the board.

Managing conflict of interest

The board subscribes to the principle of effective management of conflicts of interest and that fundamental conflicts should be 
avoided. At each board and subcommittee meeting, directors declare their interests regarding any agenda item to prevent personal 
interests of a director taking precedence over those of the company. In addition, directors’ interests are declared by the individual 
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directors annually. Board members who have personal interests in a matter under discussion must disclose their interests and recuse 
themselves from the meeting. For the period under assessment the directors declared that they had no interests regarding any of the 
agenda items tabled at either the board or committee meetings. Similar practice applies to all employees of the HDA.

Board induction and sharing of information

New directors undergo a detailed induction to ensure a comprehensive understanding of HDA’s legislative framework, governance 
processes, delegation of authority and business operations. Directors are continuously briefed on relevant new legislation and 
regulations. The induction and continuous training include the board meetings being held at regions, to allow the directors an 
opportunity to interact with executives of the business units, including viewing the projects that the agency is involved in. During the 
period under review all the board members have been registered with the Institute of Directors, which will keep them abreast of any 
issues in relation to them being directors.

All non-executive directors have access to management and the records of the agency, as well as to external professional advisors, 
should the need arise.

Board meetings

The board has four scheduled meetings annually, and special board meetings are also held as the need arises. All documents that 
are submitted to the board for discussions are meticulously prepared by the executives, taking into account matters arising from 
previous board meetings, ensuring completeness and other relevant matters for the board’s consideration. Non-executive directors 
have unfettered access to the executive team and any other employees of the agency to seek explanations and clarifications on any 
matters prior to or following a board meeting. This facilitates the board’s discussions and assists it in reaching speedy but informed 
decisions.
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M Msimang 5 3 2 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 3 2 1 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 3 1 2 N/A

T Botha1 4 3 1 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 4 4 0 0 4 4 0 0 3 3 0 0

L Jiyose2 1 0 1 0

T Songelwa 5 3 2 0 4 4 0 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 5 5 0 0 4 4 0 0 3 2 1 0

P Singh 5 4 1 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 5 5 0 0 4 4 0 0 3 3 0 0

M Mutheiwana 5 3 2 0 4 3 1 0 3 3 0 0 5 4 1 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 3 3 0 0

M Mpahlwa1 4 3 1 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A 2 2 0 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 3 3 0 0

P Moloi 5 5 0 0 4 3 1 0 3 2 1 0 5 3 2 0 4 2 2 0 3 2 1 0

B Chaplog 5 4 1 0 4 3 1 0 3 2 1 0 5 3 2 0 4 2 2 0 3 2 1 0

1. Appointed 26 May 2017

2. Appointed 22 February 2018

Table 21: Summary of Board & Subcommittee Meetings Attendance
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Board committees

The board has established and delegated specific roles and responsibilities to five standing committees, namely, the audit and risk 
committee (A&R), the corporate support and remuneration committee (CS&R), the land planning and development committee 
(LP&D), the project investment committee (PIC) and the social and ethics committee (S&E). All the standing committees are chaired 
by independent non- executive directors.

Each committee’s role, responsibilities and membership are in accordance with their terms of reference as approved by the board. 
These terms of reference are reviewed annually to ensure they remain in line with relevant regulations, agency requirements and best 
practice in corporate governance.

The audit and risk committee meets four times a year and the other board committees meet at a minimum of three times a year. 
Executives are permanent attendees at the board committee meetings, in line with their roles and responsibilities.

The minutes of the committee meetings, including the chairpersons’ reports, are included in the board meeting pack for information 
to keep the board abreast of the activities of the committees. Significant matters discussed at these committee meetings are 
recommended and debated by the board prior to the board approving such matters.

Audit and risk committee

Membership of the audit and risk committee, including its chairperson, comprises only independent non-executive directors, with 
the executive directors as standing invitees to the committee meetings. The committee has also co-opted two independent financial 
experts to strengthen its membership. Members of the committee have considerable financial and risk management, as well as the 
commercial experience necessary to oversee and guide the board. These include the audit and risk functions, corporate governance, 
the governance of risk and IT risk. 

The committee’s terms of reference are reviewed and updated annually for relevant new legislation and best practice. The terms 
of reference include the committee’s mandate, which is to ensure the integrity of financial reporting, the adequacy of governance, 
soundness of the internal control environment and the robustness of risk management processes. The roles and responsibilities of 
the committee are detailed in the report of the audit and risk committee and include the following:

• Reviewing the consolidated annual financial statements, and considering reports of the auditors on the financial statements

• Reviewing risk registers, paying attention to risks, mitigation actions and overall risk management

• Reviewing the effectiveness of the company’s internal controls

• Considering matters emanating from the company’s ethics hotline, planned management actions and the results of enquiries

• Agreeing on the scope of the auditors’ work and their fees

• Monitoring the performance of the internal audit function

• Considering the combined assurance model, assessing levels of assurance provided by the auditors, regulators, management 
and other assurance providers

• IT governance

The committee has an annual work plan to ensure that all relevant matters are covered by the agendas of the meetings planned for 
the year and as laid out in its terms of reference. The invitees to committee meetings include the two executive directors, internal 
and external auditors, and other executives responsible for the company’s operations, as and when necessary. 

The audit and risk committee is also responsible for monitoring line management, internal audit and external assurances, as well 
as audits performed by regulators. This model is used to assess the appropriateness of assurance over risk/controls provided to the 
board. Discussions regarding the extent to which the various assurance providers rely on each other’s work or where overlaps are 
unavoidable take place continually. 

Corporate support and remuneration committee

Matters relating to personnel, remuneration, transformation, IT governance, legal and communication issues have been included in 
the terms of reference of the corporate support and remuneration committee. The committee comprises independent non-executive 
directors and is responsible for:
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• Evaluating the performance of the executive management, and for setting appropriate remuneration

• Overseeing the group’s performance in respect of employment equity, transformation and staff development, taking into 
consideration the legal requirements and monitoring of targets set by the company

• Overseeing the skills development and retention of critical skills and talent

• Overseeing legal matters

• Communication

• IT governance.

The corporate support and remuneration committee scope of responsibilities is detailed in the terms of reference of the committee 
and is reviewed and approved annually by the board. 

The performance of each executive is assessed relative to the prevailing business climate and market conditions, as well as key, 
predetermined targets. In accordance with principles of good governance, the executives being evaluated are permitted to recuse 
themselves from the meeting.  
Standing invitees to the committee’s meetings include the two executive directors, the head executive of HR, and any other 
executives whose roles and responsibilities are relevant to the matters under consideration.

Land, property and development committee 

Section 4 of the HDA Act stipulates the specific objectives that relate to land and property development as follows:

• To identify, acquire, hold, develop and release communally and privately held land for residential and community purposes 
and for the creation of sustainable human settlement

• To project manage housing development services for the purposes of creating sustainable human settlements

In light of the above, the HDA considered it imperative that a dedicated board committee on land, properties and development be 
established to provide oversight on all matters relating to the HDA’s property acquisitions, management and development objectives, 
as well as the functions related thereto.

It was envisaged that a substantial amount and indeed the bulk of any capital allocation made to the HDA will be spent in the 
sphere of property acquisition and related development objectives. Such acquisitions and development require board approval and 
oversight. In keeping with the principle of good corporate governance and oversight, with reference to the board applying its mind 
to substantial capital expenditure, the land, properties and development committee was established.

Membership of the land, property and development committee, including its chairperson, comprises only independent non-executive 
directors, with the executive directors as standing invitees to the committee meetings.

The role of the committee is as follows:

• Strategic oversight of the acquisitions, management and development of land and properties

• Ensuring that adequate internal controls are in place to manage risk, legal and compliance issues in respect of acquisitions, 
management and development of land and properties

• Ensuring the overall compliance of the investment programme, both capital and institutional investment, and will have final 
recommendations to the board for authorisation of investment decisions

• Oversight of the management and mitigation of risks related to the Agency’s role and functions pertaining to acquisitions, 
management and development of land and properties 

• The land, property and development committee scope of responsibilities is detailed in the terms of reference of the 
committee and is reviewed and approved annually by the board. 

Project investment committee 

The HDA was mandated by the Minister of Human Settlements to reposition the HDA into an effective public sector human 
settlements development agency. In light of the HDA’s expanded development role, it was considered imperative that a dedicated 
board investment committee be established to attend to the specific oversight of all matters relating to the HDA core development 
and investment functions.
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Membership of the project investment committee, including its chairperson, comprises only independent non-executive directors, 
with the executive directors as standing invitees to the committee meetings.

The committee is responsible for the following matters:
• Approval of funding proposals

• Amendments to approval decisions and project terminations

• Consideration of management reports relating to a number of projects approved and geographic location, expenditure, 
programme/projects implementation and any HDA interventions employed to support developments

The property investment committee scope of responsibilities is detailed in the terms of reference of the committee and is reviewed 
and approved annually by the board. 

Social and ethics committee

The social and ethics committee comprises only independent non-executive directors, including the chairperson. The executive 
directors are standing invitees to committee meetings and relevant EXCO members attend the committee meetings by invitation.

The committee advises the board on good corporate citizenship and ethical relationships, and report to the board on the Agency’s 
commitment in this regard. The committee’s terms of reference are reviewed and updated annually and its responsibilities include:

• Evaluating policies and measures in place to prevent fraud and corruption

• Reviewing the corporate social investment strategies and progress thereof

• Evaluating the stakeholder engagement model, monitoring the status and from time to time assessing effectiveness

• Reviewing the transformation strategies, progress on initiatives and improvement plans

• Reviewing occupational health and safety (OHS) policies and monitoring effectiveness

The committee has an annual work plan and at its meeting held on insert new date ensured that the committee met all monitoring 
and reporting responsibilities within the annual cycle. The committee further considered the company’s corporate and social 
investment, transformation and ED initiatives, OHS, stakeholder management, as well as the ethics policy.

Executive committee (EXCO)

The EXCO is chaired by the CEO and includes all business unit heads. The responsibilities of the committee include overseeing the 
day-to-day management of the Agency’s affairs, executing the decisions of the board, strategy development, and reviews of the 
agency’s values, safety performance, operations and financial performance.  The committee meets on a monthly basis.

Company secretary

The company secretary is responsible for developing systems and processes that enable the board to discharge specific functions 
efficiently and effectively. She is responsible for advising the board on corporate governance issues, setting the annual plan for the 
board in conjunction with the chairperson and monitoring compliance with the Public Finance Management Act, no. 1 of 1999 
(PFMA), the HDA Act, the Companies Act and other relevant legislation, as well as keeping the board updated on new relevant 
legislation. All directors have access to her services and guidance.

Internal controls

The board oversees the system of internal control within HDA, whereas the implementation and functioning of these systems rest 
with the executive management. The audit and risk committee is presented with a formal review of the effectiveness of the Agency’s 
internal controls on a regular basis. There are reports from management on specific areas, internal audit, external audit and other 
independent assurance providers that are tabled from time to time.

Internal audit

The function of internal audit is to appraise the adequacy and effectiveness of the HDA’s systems of internal control. This function 
has been outsourced to an audit firm. There is an internal audit charter in place, which regulates the interaction between 
the Agency, management, internal auditors and the board. The charter is tabled annually to the audit and risk committee for 

Corporate Governance continued
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Corporate Governance continued

consideration and approval. The internal auditors report administratively to the CEO and have unrestricted access to the chairperson 
of the audit and risk committee and to the chairperson of the board, and regularly report to the audit and risk committee. The board 
is confident that the internal auditors have discharged their duties fully in terms of the internal audit charter.

Legal, regulatory and public policy compliance 

The nature of the HDA’s business requires assessment of and integration of legal, regulatory and public policy requirements into the 
strategy and operational processes of the Agency to meet its contractual, moral and corporate citizenship obligations. As a public 
entity, the observation of laws that govern the Agency and its activities forms the foundation for good corporate governance and 
demonstrates stewardship and responsibility to the shareholder and other stakeholders. The effectiveness of the HDA’s system of 
internal control, financial, operational and other regulatory controls is continuously assessed by and reported to the audit and risk 
committee to enable the board to discharge its oversight responsibilities.

Fraud and corruption

Code of ethics

The HDA has strengthened policies and processes to ensure employees have clear guidance to make ethical choices and understand 
the due diligence required in all business decisions. The HDA’s code of ethics was implemented during the year and sets clear 
expectations for directors, employees, suppliers and clients. Regular awareness training regarding the code and ethical standards 
helps to embed a culture of responsible business conduct throughout the agency.  The HDA aims to communicate openly and 
transparently with stakeholders regarding its approach to responsible business conduct. The Agency has an independently-operated 
whistle-blowing mechanism that is operated by an independent organisation. External stakeholders have also been made aware of 
the company’s ethics policy and hotline, via our procurement and legal departments. Ethics matters are monitored and reported to 
both the audit and risk and the social and ethics committees.

Fraud and corruption

The HDA’s values of integrity, the principles of the UN Global Compact and the requirement of the PFMA to prevent financial 
misconduct and fraud, inform HDA’s fraud and corruption prevention strategy. The social and ethics committee advises the board 
on good corporate citizenship and ethical relationships and oversees the implementation of the strategy. During the year, the HDA’s 
fraud and corruption prevention strategy and policy was aligned with legislation and updated to improve detection, prevention and 
investigation of possible fraud and corruption.

Fraud and corruption awareness

The HDA has implemented a system of financial and operational controls including policies, such as the delegation of authority, 
procurement, and employee ethics that promote ethical conduct with the aim of preventing fraud and corruption. The system 
includes security procedures to protect assets and declaration of interests by employees and directors. The HDA has adopted a 
transparent procurement process that consists of formal tender publications, as well as appointed adjudication committees to ensure 
segregation of duties and procurement decisions are taken within the delegated authority. The scope of the code of ethics and 
business conduct was broadened to include business partners and other stakeholders. As part of instilling a culture of good ethics 
and integrity, the HDA embarked on group-wide campaigns to communicate its values to employees.

Detection of fraud and corruption

Management continuously interrogates financial, HR and inventory information to detect possible instances of fraud and corruption 
as part of its day-to-day control activities. In addition, external auditors and internal auditors include fraud detection in their audit 
procedures. 

Whistle-blowing

The HDA has an independent, confidential hotline accessible to all stakeholders, through which fraudulent and unethical behaviour 
may be reported. The hotline number is published on the intranet and website, as well as on supplier and customer orders, in 
the company newsletter, and communicated on noticeboards. However, the HDA is comfortable that the CCMA process, diligent 
management assessments, as well as external and internal audit procedures which include the Auditor-General requirements of 
supply chain fraud risk assessment, highlighted no instances of fraud and are effective in complementing fraud and corruption 
detection. The HDA continues to promote anti-fraud and anti-corruption awareness among employees and stakeholders.
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General Information
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

LEGAL FORM OF ENTITY       Schedule 3A entity listed in terms of the PFMA

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES    Accelerating the development of sustainable
        human settlements through land assembly,
        building and property acquisitions, and
        project management support services

THE FOLLOWING IS INCLUDED IN THE SCOPE OF OPERATION  Identify, acquire, hold, develop and release
        well-located land and buildings, provide
        project management support and housing
        development services.

CONTROLLING ENTITY       National Department of Human Settlements

MEMBERS OF THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY    M Msimang (Chairperson)
        TS Songelwa
        ME Mutheiwana
        PA Singh
        T Botha
        MH Mpahlwa
        L Jiyose
        PP Moloi (CEO)
        APG Soares (CFO)
        BS Chaplog (Acting CFO)

The HDA CFO APG Soares is seconded to the Estate Agency Affairs Board and Mr BS Chaplog seconded to the HDA.

PHYSICAL ADDRESS       Block A, Riviera Office Park
        6-10 Riviera Road
        Killarney
        Johannesburg

BANKERS        First National Bank Ltd

AUDITORS        Ngubane & Co.

COMPANY SECRETARY       Elizabeth Africa

BUSINESS ADDRESS       P.O. Box 3209
        Houghton
        2041
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Statement of Reponsibility and Approval
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

The Accounting Authority is required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999), to maintain adequate accounting 
records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial information included 
in this report. It is the responsibility of the Accounting Authority to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the 
state of affairs of the entity as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then 
ended. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements and were given 
unrestricted access to all financial records and related data.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with South African Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP).

The annual financial statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable 
and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Accounting Authority acknowledges that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial controls established 
by the entity and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the members to meet 
these responsibilities, the Accounting Authority sets standards for internal controls aimed at reducing the risk of error or deficit in a 
cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the entity and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the entity’s business is 
conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the entity is on 
identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot be fully 
eliminated, the entity endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour 
are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Accounting Authority is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management that the system of 
internal controls provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial 
statements. However, any system of internal financial controls can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or deficit.

The Accounting Authority has reviewed the entity’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2019 and in the light of this review 
and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the entity has or has access to adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the entity’s annual financial statements. 
The annual financial statements have been examined by the entity’s external auditors and their report is presented on page 78 to 81.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 75 to 120, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved 
by the Accounting Authority on 30 July 2018 and were signed on its behalf by:

    
M Msimang       PP Moloi
Chairperson of the Accounting Authority    Chief Executive Officer



77 ANNUAL REPORT 2017|2018

The Accounting Authority of the Housing Development Agency (HDA) delegated certain responsibilities to the Audit and Risk 
Committee (Committee) and these are set out in the Audit Committee charter.

The Committee’s responsibilities are in line with the Public Finance Management Act, Act 1 of 1999 and the Treasury Regulations 
and it has discharged all its responsibilities set out in its Audit Committee Charter. The Committee has amongst other things 
reviewed the following during the period under review:

- the effectiveness of the internal control systems;

- the activities of the internal audit function, including its annual work program, co-ordination with external auditors, the reports of  
  significant findings and the response of management to specific recommendations;

- the adequacy, reliability and accuracy of financial information provided by management;

- any accounting or auditing concern identified as a result of an internal or external audit; and

- where relevant, the independence and objectivity of the external auditors.

The internal controls implemented by the HDA focus on identified key risk areas. Management monitors all internal controls closely 
and ensures that action is taken to correct deficiencies as they are identified. In the opinion of the Committee, these controls and 
procedures of the HDA were, during the year under review, appropriate in safeguarding the HDA’s assets, ensuring the maintenance 
of proper accounting records and that working capital and resources were efficiently utilised. Nothing has come to the attention 
of the Committee to indicate that a material breakdown in the functioning of the internal controls, procedures and systems has 
occurred during the year under review.

Following our review of the annual financial statements of the HDA for the year ended 31 March 2018, we are of the opinion that 
they comply in all material respects with the relevant provisions of the Public Finance Management Act and Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice.

The Committee, at its meeting held on 26 July 2018 recommended these annual financial statements, which were prepared on a 
going concern basis, to the Accounting Authority for approval.

TS Songelwa
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee

Report of the Audit and Risk Committee
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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Opinion

      We have audited the financial statements of the Housing Development Agency (HDA) set out on pages 75 to 118, which  
      comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, the statement of financial performance, statement of changes  
      in net assets, statement of cash flows and statement of comparison of budget information with actual information for the year  
      then ended, as well as the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

      In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Housing Development  
      Agency as at 31 March 2018, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Standards  
      of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act      
      of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA). 

Basis for opinion

      We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those  
      standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of this auditor’s  
      report. 
 
      We are independent of the entity in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of professional   
      conduct of registered auditors (IRBA code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of the financial  
      statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA code and in  
      accordance other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA code is consistent with the  
      International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of ethics for professional accountants (parts A and B).

      We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other matters

      We draw attention to the matters below. Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters. 

Previous period audited by a predecessor auditor

      The financial statements of the previous year were audited by a predecessor auditor in terms of section 4(3) of the Public Audit  
      Act, who issued an unmodified opinion on 31 July 2017. 
 
Unaudited supplementary schedules 

      The supplementary information set out on pages 119 to 120 does not form part of the financial statements and is presented as  
      additional information. We have not audited these schedules and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion on them.

Responsibilities of the Accounting Authority for the financial statements

      The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with  
      Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA, and for such internal control as the accounting authority determines is  
      necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or  
      error.

      In preparing the financial statements, the Accounting Authority is responsible for assessing the Housing Development Agency’s  
      ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern  
      basis of accounting unless the Accounting Authority either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no  
      realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

      Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material  
      misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is  
      a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect a  
      material misstatement when it exists. 

Independent Auditor’s Report to Parliament
On the Housing Development Agency

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
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      Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be  
      expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

      A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in the annexure to this auditor’s  
      report.

Report on the Audit of the Annual Performance Report

Introduction and scope

      In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice issued in  
      terms thereof, we have a responsibility to report material findings on the reported performance information against  
      predetermined objectives for selected programmes presented in the annual performance report. We performed procedures to  
      identify findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance.

      Our procedures address the reported performance information, which must be based on the approved performance planning  
      documents of the entity. We have not evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of the performance indicators/ measures  
      included in the planning documents. Our procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating to planned  
      performance strategies and information in respect of future periods that may be included as part of the reported performance  
      information. Accordingly, our findings do not extend to these matters. 

      We evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in accordance with the criteria developed  
      from the performance management and reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, for the following selected  
      programmes presented in the annual performance report of the entity for the year ended 31 March 2018:

      We performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance information was properly presented and whether  
      performance was consistent with the approved performance planning documents. We performed further procedures to  
      determine whether the indicators and related targets were measurable and relevant, and assessed the reliability of the reported  
      performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.

      We did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information for the following  
      programmes:

      • Programme 3 - development management & operations

      • Programme 4 -  built environment implementation

Other matters

     We draw attention to the matters below.

Achievement of planned targets

      Refer to the annual performance report on pages 28 to 62 for information on the achievement of planned targets for the year  
      and explanations provided for the over achievement of a significant number of targets.

Adjustment of material misstatements

      We identified material misstatements in the annual performance report submitted for auditing. These material misstatements  
      were on the reported performance information of development management & operations and built environment  
      implementation. As management subsequently corrected the misstatements, we did not raise any material findings on the  
      usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information.

Independent Auditor’s Report to Parliament
On the Housing Development Agency

Programmes Pages in the annual performance report

Programme 3 – development management & operations 54 – 57

Programme 4 – built environment implementation 58 – 62
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Report on the Audit of Compliance with Legislation

Introduction and scope

      In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, we have a responsibility to report material findings     
      on the compliance of the entity with specific matters in key legislation. We performed procedures to identify findings but not to  
      gather evidence to express assurance. 

      The material findings on compliance with specific matters in key legislations are as follows: 
      
Annual financial statements and annual report

      The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the prescribed financial reporting  
      framework as required by section 55(1) (b) of the PFMA. 
      Material misstatements of disclosure items identified by the auditors in the submitted financial statements were corrected,  
      resulting in the financial statements receiving an unqualified audit opinion.

Other information

     The accounting authority is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included  
      in the annual report. The other information does not include the financial statements, the auditor’s report and those selected  
      programmes presented in the annual performance report that have been specifically reported in this auditor’s report. 

      Our opinion on the financial statements and findings on the reported performance information and compliance with legislation  
      do not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

      In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the  
      other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and the selected programmes presented in the annual  
      performance report, or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

      We did not receive the other information prior to the date of this auditor’s report. After we receive and read this information,  
      and if we conclude that there is a material misstatement, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with  
      governance and request that the other information be corrected. If the other information is not corrected, we may have to  
      retract this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended report as appropriate. However, if it is corrected this will not be necessary.

Internal Control deficiencies

       We considered internal control relevant to our audit of the financial statements, reported performance information and  
       compliance with applicable legislation; however, our objective was not to express any form of assurance on it. The matters  
       reported below are limited to the significant internal control deficiencies that resulted in the finding on compliance with  
       legislation included in this report.

Leadership 

Management did not exercise sufficient oversight on financial reporting which resulted in material misstatements in the financial 
statements.

Financial and performance reporting

Management did not prepare regular, accurate and complete financial reports that are supported and evidenced by reliable 
information.

Independent Auditor’s Report to Parliament
On the Housing Development Agency
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Auditor tenure

      In terms of the IRBA rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Ngubane &  
      Co. has been the auditor of Housing Development Agency for 1 year.

Ngubane & Co. (Jhb) Inc.
Per: James Gondo – CA (SA)
Director
Registered Auditor
31 July 2018

1 Superior Road   
Midrand 
1685

Independent Auditor’s Report to Parliament
On the Housing Development Agency
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    As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism  
    throughout our audit of the financial statements, and the procedures performed on reported performance information for  
    selected programmes and on the entity’s compliance with respect to the selected subject matters.

Financial statements

    In addition to our responsibility for the audit of the financial statements as described in this auditor’s report, we also: 

    • identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to fraud or error, design and  
       perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a  
       basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting  
       from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control

    • obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the  
       circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control

    • evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures  
       made by the accounting authority

    • conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting authority’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation      
       of the financial statements. We also conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists  
       related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Housing Development Agency ability to continue as a  
       going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to  
       the related disclosures in the financial statements about the material uncertainty or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify      
       the opinion on the financial statements. Our conclusions are based on the information available to me at the date of this  
       auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause an entity to cease continuing as a going concern

    • evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the  
       financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation

Communication with those charged with governance

    We communicate with the accounting authority regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and  
    significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

    We also confirm to the accounting authority that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,  
    and communicate all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to have a bearing on our independence  
    and, where applicable, related safeguards.

Annexure - Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit
On the Housing Development Agency
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We are pleased to say the Agency has maintained 
a positive public image that seeks to strengthen 
public confidence in its ability to change the lives 
of our people. In areas where there has been 
disaster the HDA was called in to assist.
Pascal Moloi
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Figures in R `000 Note(s) 2018 2017

Assets

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 4,748 5,500

Long-term land inventory 4 27,905 27,905

Total Non-Current Assets 32,653 33,405

Current Assets

Land inventory 5 122,736 98,036

Receivables from exchange transactions 6 4,720 1,710

Projects receivables 7 71,852 258,242

Cash and cash equivalents 8 2,374,515 708,897

Total Current Assets 2,573,823 1,066,885

Total Assets 2,606,476 1,100,290

Net Assets and Liabilities

Revaluation reserve 111 111

Accumulated surplus 10,332 7,524

10,443 7,635

Non-Current Liabilities

Finance lease obligations 9 135 730

Current Liabilities

Payables from exchange transactions 13 34,008 27,375

Provisions 14 9,024 15,572

Current portion of finance leases 9 620 468

Projects Payables 15 48,123 60,817

Projects obligations 16 2,381,387 889,657

Land inventory obligation 17 122,736 98,036

Total Current Liabilities 2,595,898 1,091,925

Total Net Assets and Liabilities 2,606,476  1,100,290

Statement of Financial Position
Annual Financial Statements as at 31 March 2018
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Figures in R `000 Note(s) 2018 2017

Operating revenue

Revenue from non-exchange transactions-  
Operational grants

18 338,097 202,315

Revenue from exchange transactions- 
Project management fees

19 16,941 23,280

Interest income 5,295 4,679

Total operating revenue 360,333 230,274

Operating expenditure

Land and related costs  20 9,328 10,176

Operating expenses  21 71,904 61,519

Project services  22 129,946 59,604

Finance costs 251 290

Employee costs  23 148,548 117,834

Total operating expenditure 359,977 249,423

Other income

Sundry income 24 2,538 5,481

Total other income 2,538 5,481

Other expenditure

Deficit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 86 44    

Total other expenditure 86 44

Surplus /(deficit) for the year 2,808 (13,712)

Statement of Financial Performance
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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Figures in R `000 Revaluation reserves Accumulated surplus Total

Balance at 1 April 2016 57 21,236 21,293

Deficit for the year - (13,712) (13,712)

Revaluation of Paintings 54 - 54

Balance at 31 March 2017 111 7,524 7,635

Balance at 1 April 2017 111 7,524 7,635

Surplus for the year - 2,808 2,808

Balance at 31 March 2018 111 10,332 10,443

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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Figures in R `000 Note(s) 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts 354,566 231,076

Grants 338,097 202,315

Management fees 16,941 23,280

Other receipts movements (472) 5,481

Payments (357,226) (240,925)

Employee costs (148,548) (117,838)

Other payments (208,678) (123,087)

Cash utilised in operations 27  (2,660) (9,849)

Interest received 5,295 4,679

Interest paid - finance charges on finance leases (251) (292)

Net cash flows from operating activities 2,384 (5,462)

Cash flows from investing activities

Property, plant and equipment acquired (1,749) (4,479)

Net cash flows from investing activities (1,749) (4,479)

Cash flows from financing activities

Decrease/(increase) in funding receivables for projects 186,390 (161,780)

Decrease in projects payables (12,694) (54,288)

Increase in projects obligations 1,491,730 381,426

(Decrease)/increase in lease liability (443) 1,156

Cash flows from financing activities 1,664,983 166,514

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,665,618 156,573

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 708,897 552,324

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 8 2,374,515 708,897

Statement of Cash Flow 
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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Figures in R `000 Note(s) 2018

Actuals Budget Variance
%  

Variance
Adjust-

ment

Approved 
annual 
budget

Operating revenue

Operational grants  1 338,097 514,860 176,763- 34%  - 514,860

Project management fees  2 16,941 31,362 14,421- 46% - 31,362

Other income 

Interest income 5,295 1,546 (3,749) (242%) - 1,546

Sundry income 2,538 2,826 288- 10% - 2,826

Total revenue 362,871 550,594 187,723- 34 % -  550,594

Expenditure

Land and related costs 3 9,328 17,009 7,681- 45% 17,009

Operating expenses 4 71,904 47,477 (24,427) (51%)  47,477

Technical and project services 3 129,946 286,410 156,464- 55% -  286,410

Finance costs 251 139 (112) (81%) 139

Employee costs 148,548 199,414 50,866- 26% 199,414

Deficit on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment

 
86 

 
145

 
59-

 
41%

 
145

Total expenditure 360,063 550,594 190,531-  35% - 550,594

Surplus for the year 2,808  - (2,808) - - -

Variances explanation

      1  Anticipated funds budgeted for catalytic projects not received.
      2  Management fee underrecovered as work still continuing at project level.
      3  Anticipated funds budgeted for catalytic projects not received. Resulting in less spending on
          land related costs and technical and project services.
      4  General increase in operating costs due to expansion and rellocation of offices.

Statement of Comparison of Budget  
Information with Actual Information
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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1. Presentation of Annual Financial Statements

General information

The Housing Development Agency is a section 3A entity of the PFMA, Act 1 of 1999. The principal activity is accelerating the 
development of sustainable human settlements through land assembly, building and property acquisitions, and project management 
and support services.

Basis of preparation

The annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with the effective South African 
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) for the accrual basis of accounting, including any 
interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board.

The following are the principal accounting policies of the HDA, adopted in preparation of the annual financial statements. 
The historical cost convention has been used, except where indicated otherwise.

Accounting policies for material transactions, events or conditions not covered by the GRAP reporting framework, have been 
developed in accordance with paragraphs 8, 10 and 11 of the GRAP 3 and the hierarchy approved in Directive 5 issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board.

Use of estimates and judgements

Management has used assessments and estimates in preparing the annual financial statements - these are based on the best 
information available at the time of preparation. The annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
All amounts have been presented in the currency of South African Rand, which is the functional currency of the HDA.

Standards and pronouncements comprising the GRAP Financial Reporting Framework

The following standards have been approved but are not yet effective as at 31 March 2018. The impact that these standards will 
have on the entity is detailed below. A list of these standards is provided below:

GRAP STANDARDS IMPACT EFFECTIVE DATE 

GRAP 20 Related party disclosures Disclosure will be affected as the HDA 
has transactions with related parties. 

No effective date.

GRAP 37 Joint arrangements Disclosure will be affected as the HDA 
may enter into financial arrangements 
with other organs of state. 

No effective date.

GRAP 38 Disclosure of interest in other 
entities

Disclosure will be affected as the HDA 
may enter into financial arrangements 
with other organs of state.

No effective date.

GRAP 108 Statutory Receivables Disclosure may be affected. No effective date.

GRAP 109 Accounting by Principals and 
Agents

Disclosure will be affected as the HDA 
has principal-agency agreements with 
other organs of state.

No effective date.

INTERPRETATIONS EFFECTIVE DATE

Preface to the interpretations of the SA
Standards of GRAP

No effective date.

The following are interpretations issued but not yet effective:

Accounting Policies
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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2. Policies

2.1 Revenue recognition

The HDA is financed from money appropriated by Parliament and other sources as indicated below:

Revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue from exchange transactions refers to the revenue that accrued to the HDA directly in return for services rendered, the value 
of which approximates the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised based on cost recovery.

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity interest yielding assets is recognised when:

- it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential with the transaction will flow to the entity; and

- the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues on a time apportionment basis taking into account its effective yield. Other income 
comprises tender fees and insurance claims and is recognised when consideration is received.

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Revenue from non-exchange transactions refers to transactions where the HDA received revenue from another party without directly 
giving approximately equal value in exchange. Revenue from non-exchange transactions is generally recognised to the extent that 
the related receipt or receivable qualifies for recognition as an asset and there is no liability to repay the amount.

Grants from government are recognised at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that the conditions attached to them will 
be complied with and that the grant will be received.

Grants relating to funds spent on approved funding agreements and where funds have not yet been received are accrued for as 
projects receivables.

Management fee is recognised as revenue as services are rendered based on agreed funding agreements.

2.2 Taxation

The HDA is not required to make provision for SA Normal Taxation in the annual financial statements, since it is exempted in terms of 
Section 10(1) cA (i) of the Income Tax Act 58 of 1962 as amended.

The HDA is defined as a public authority in terms of the VAT Act 89 of 1991 as amended and is not required to register for VAT 
(Value Added Tax). The HDA is also exempt from paying Skills Development Levy in terms of Section 4 (d) of the Skills Development 
Levies Act no. 9 of 1999.

2.3 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in the production 
or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used during more than one 
period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

- it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

- the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Accounting Policies
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Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade discounts and 
rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost. Where an asset is acquired at no or nominal cost, its costs is its fair value as at the date 
of acquisition.

When significant components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amounts of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when an item is in location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated residual value. 
Depreciation commences when the asset is ready for its intended use.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item, is 
depreciated separately. Where the carrying value is greater than estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to 
its recoverable amount. The useful lives of all the assets are assessed on an asset by asset basis. The major categories of assets are 
depreciated over the following average useful lives:

The residual value, the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting date. If the 
expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic 
benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit when the 
item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

Subsequent expenditure incurred on items of property, plant and equipment is only capitalised to the extent that such expenditure 
enhances the value or previous capacity of those assets. Repairs and maintenance not deemed to enhance the economic benefit or 
service potential of items of property, plant and equipment are expensed as incurred.

Paintings

Paintings are carried at fair value and not depreciated. The revaluation method is used.

Revaluations are made regularly, every three (3) years by an independent valuator.

If the carrying amount of an asset is increased as a result of a revaluation, the increase shall be credited directly to a revaluation 
surplus. However, the increase shall be recognised in surplus or deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the 
same asset previously recognised in surplus or deficit.

Accounting Policies
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Item Average useful life

Computer equipment 3 - 4 years

Office equipment 4 - 5 years

Furniture & fittings 10 - 12 years

Electronic hardware 4 - 5 years

Property 20 - 25 years
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2.4 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance.
An intangible asset is recognised when:

- it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to the  
  entity, and

- the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Intangible assets are purchased computer software that is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. It is amortised over its estimated life of three (3) years using the straight-line method.

The residual value of an intangible asset with a finite useful life shall be assumed to be zero unless:

- there is a commitment by a third party to purchase the asset at the end of its useful life; or

- there is an active market for the assets; and

 * Residual value can be determined by reference to that market; and

 * It is probable that such a market will exist at the end of the asset’s useful life.

Useful lives, amortisation methods and residual values of assets are re-estimated annually to finite periods. The depreciable amount 
of an intangible asset with finite useful life shall be allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life. Amortisation shall begin when 
the asset is available for use. The assets are then amortised over their re-assessed useful lives.

An intangible asset shall be derecognised:

- on disposal; or

- when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss on derecognition on an intangible asset is included in surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or 
loss arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, 
and the carrying amount of the item.

At each statement of financial position date, the carrying amounts of tangible and intangible assets are reviewed to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets may have been impaired. If the fair value less costs to sell of an asset is estimated to 
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its fair value less costs to sell. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

2.5 Land held as current assets

Land held as current assets is classified as such when the carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction or 
disposal rather than through continuing use.

2.6 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Classification of leases is done at the inception of the lease 
agreement.

Accounting Policies
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Finance leases – lessee

Assets acquired in terms of finance leases are capitalised at the lower of the fair value of the leased assets and the present value of 
the minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge 
and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

Finance lease assets are carried at the initial cost recognised less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Finance lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term unless the asset is expected to be 
used by the entity beyond the term of the lease.

The major categories of leased assets are depreciated using the following range of useful life:

Operating leases – lessee

Leases for assets under which all the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the statement of financial performance on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease. The difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised 
as an operating lease asset.

2.7 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when:

- the entity has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event;

- it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

- a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required for settling a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the
reimbursement shall be recognised when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the
obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset.

2.8 Leave payable

Employee entitlement to annual leave is recognised when it accrues to employees. An amount payable, based on total
employment cost, is raised for the estimated liability as a result of services rendered by employees up to date of the statement of 
financial position.

2.9 Commitments

Items are classified as commitments when an entity has committed itself to future transaction that will normally result in the outflow 
of cash.

2.10 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are included in the disclosure notes to the financial statements when it is possible that economic benefits will 
flow from the entity, or when an outflow of economic benefits or service potential is probable but cannot be measured reliably.

2.11 Land inventory

Initial recognition and measurement

Land inventory is a tangible asset that is held for sale or distribution in the ordinary course of operations.

Item Average useful life

Office equipment  2 - 3 years

Accounting Policies
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Land inventory shall be recognised as an asset if, and only if:

- it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

- the cost of the inventory can be measured reliably.

Inventories that qualify for recognition as assets shall initially be measured at cost. Inventories are measured at the lower

of cost and current replacement cost. Where inventories are acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, their costs
shall be fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

Inventories shall be measured at the lower of cost or current replacement cost where they are held for distribution at no
charge or for a nominal charge.

Long-term land inventory

Land purchased by the HDA for the purpose of release for human settlements and where there is uncertainty regarding date of 
release is classified as long-term land inventory.

Short-term inventory

Land registered in the HDA name and where there are conditions attached is classified under current assets as short-term land 
inventory.

2.12 Related parties

The HDA operates in an economic environment currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the South African 
government. As a result of the constitutional independence of all three spheres of government in South Africa, only parties within 
the national sphere of government will be considered to be related parties. Only transactions with such parties which are not arm’s 
length and not on normal commercial terms are disclosed.

Key management is defined as being individuals with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity. All individuals from the level of Executive Committee up to the Accounting Authority are regarded as key 
management. Close members of the family of persons related to the entity may influence, or be influenced by them in their 
transactions with the entity.

2.13 Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value. Transaction costs on financial instruments, measured at fair value through 
surplus or deficit, are recognised in surplus or deficit.

2.13.1 Receivables

Receivables are classified as loans and receivables and are initially measured at fair value. Loans and receivables are non derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. These financial assets are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The allowance for debtor impairment is determined as being 
the difference between the present value of the expected future cash receipts and the carrying value. Bad debts are written off when 
concrete cases of default are identified. Gains and losses are recognised in surplus and deficit when the loans and receivables are 
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

2.13.2 Payables

The entity’s financial liabilities include payables which are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost.

Accounting Policies
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2.13.3 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, for the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
deposits held on call with banks, net of bank overdrafts, all of which are available for use unless otherwise stated. These are initially 
and subsequently recorded at fair value.

2.13.4 Offsetting

Transactions are only offset when such offsetting reflects the substance of the transaction or event. Where a legally enforceable right 
of offset exists for recognised financial liabilities, and there is an intention to settle the liability and realise the asset simultaneously, or 
settle on a net basis, all related financial effects are offset.

2.13.5 Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period the entity assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through surplus or deficit,  
to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the entity, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and 
default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment. As the indicators are subject to uncertainty and as such may change 
in future financial periods. Such changes in estimates may have the effect of decreasing impairment losses recognised. The carrying 
amount of the receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are 
assessed as uncollectible.

Impairment losses are recognised in surplus or deficit.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset) is derecognised when:

- the rights to receive cash flow from the asset have expired;

- the entity retains the right to receive cash flow from the asset, but has assumed the obligation to pay them in full without material  
  delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement, or

- the entity has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either

 * Has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the assets, or

 * Has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the assets, has transferred control of the   
    asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when an obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial assets and the sum of the proceeds receivable and 
any prior adjustment to reflect the fair value of the asset that had been reported in net assets, is included in the surplus or deficit for 
the period.

2.14 Employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation 
leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period in which the service is 
rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their 
entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The HDA is a member of the Government Employees Pension Fund.

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive obligation to make such 
payment as a result of past performance.
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2.15 Accruals

Accruals are recognised as liabilities when the entity has taken receipt of the related goods or services without a corresponding 
invoice having been issued.

The amount of accruals is the present value of the expenditure required to settle the obligation. Where some or all of the 
expenditure required for settling a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement shall be recognised 
when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated 
as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the accruals. Accruals are not 
recognised for future operating deficits.

2.16 Grants accrued

Grant accrued represents funds committed and allocated to specific projects for which contracts have been entered into and which 
await cash payments in terms of payment agreed contracts.

2.17 Projects in progress (conditional grants)

Projects in progress represent grants received from the Department of Human Settlements for funding programme projects.  
The conditional grants are treated as liabilities in the statement of financial position in the year it was received or accrued and 
released to revenue as the expenses are incurred or to the extent that the conditions are met.

2.18 Significant estimates and judgement made by management in applying accounting 
policies

The preparation of annual financial statements in conformity with SA Standards of GRAP requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the entity’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the annual financial statements are disclosed in the relevant sections of the annual financial statements. Although these estimates 
are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions they may undertake in the future, actual results ultimately 
may differ from those estimates. Significant judgement has been exercised in determining the following:

Fair value estimation

The amortised cost (using the effective interest method), less impairment provision of receivables and payables approximate their 
fair values. The present value of future cash flows (using the effective interest method) approximate the fair value of revenue and 
expenditure transactions.

Impairment testing
Initial recognition

An asset is impaired when the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable service amount. At each reporting date, the HDA assesses 
whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.

In assessing whether an asset may be impaired, HDA considers the following minimum requirements:

- External source information

* Cessation or near cessation of need for services provided by an asset

* Significant long term changes in technology, legal or government policy environment

- Internal source information

* Physical damage of an asset

Accounting Policies
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Application of approaches

The approach used by the HDA will depend on whether, after assessment, enough information is available and the nature of 
impairment:

* Cessation or near cessation of need for services provided by asset

   The depreciated replacement cost method will be used

* Significant long term changes in technology, legal or government policy environment

   The depreciated replacement cost method will be used

* Physical damage of an asset

   The restoration cost method will be used

Recognition and measurement

The impairment loss is not applicable if the asset is classified as paintings which uses the revaluation model.

If the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the carrying amount will be reduced to the recoverable service amount. 
That reduction is the impairment loss.

An impairment loss will be recognised immediately in the surplus or deficit.

Provisions

Management used available information to determine estimations for provisions. These are measured at management’s best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at reporting date.

2.19 Budget information

The HDA is typically subject to budgetary limits in a form of appropriations or budget authorisations (or equivalent), which is given 
effect through authorising legislation, appropriation or similar.
General purpose financial reporting by the entity shall provide information on whether resources were obtained and used in 
accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The annual financial statements and the budget are prepared on the same basis of accounting. Therefore a reconciliation
between the statement of financial performance and the budget is not required.

2.20 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been
exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial performance 
in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where 
recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.

2.21 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in
contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including -

(a) the PFMA;

(b) the Treasury Regulations;

(c) a National Treasury Instruction, issued in terms of section 76 of the PFMA; and

(d) a Provincial Treasury Instruction issued in terms of section 18(2)(a) of the PFMA.
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Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was condoned before year end 
and/or before finalisation of the financial statements must also be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. In such 
an instance, no further action is also required with the exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which condonement is being awaited 
at year end must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register. No further action is required with the exception of updating the 
note to the financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following financial year, the 
register and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated with the amount condoned.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not condoned by the CEO or 
accounting authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. If liability for the irregular expenditure can 
be attributed to a person, a debt account must be created if such a person is liable in law.

Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to recover the amount from the person concerned. If recovery is not possible, the 
accounting officer or accounting authority may write off the amount as debt impairment and disclose such in the relevant note 
to the financial statements. The irregular expenditure register must also be updated accordingly. If the irregular expenditure has 
not been condoned and no person is liable in law, the expenditure related thereto must remain against the relevant programme/
expenditure item, be disclosed as such in the note to the financial statements and updated accordingly in the irregular expenditure 
register.
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Figures in R `000

Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

2018 
Carrying 

value Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

2017  
Carrying 

value

Assets

Furniture and fittings 3,769  2,316 1,453 3,404 1,593 1,811

Electronic hardware 2,787 2,435 352 2,434 2,285 149

Office equipment 806 358 448 695 210 485

Computer equipment 4,735 3,097 1,638 4,078 2,351 1,727

12,097 8,206 3,891 10,611 6,439 4,172

Carrying 
value at 

beginning 
of year Additions Disposals Depreciation

2018 
Carrying 
value at 

end of 
year

Assets

Furniture and fittings 1,811 367 - (725) 1,453

Electronic hardware 149   340 - (137) 352

Office equipment 485 121  (9) (149) 448

Computer equipment 1,727 887 (77) (899) 1,638

4,172 1,715 (86) (1,910) 3,891

Carrying 
value at 

beginning 
of year Additions Revaluation Depreciation

2018 
Carrying 
value at 

end of 
year

Paintings 319  - - - 319

Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

2018 
Carrying 

value Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

2017  
Carrying 

value

Capitalised leased assets 2,119 1,581 538 2,085 1,076  1,009

Fair Value Revaluation

2018 
Carrying 

value Fair Value Revaluation

2017  
Carrying 

value

Paintings 319 - 319 265 54 319

Total 14,535 9,787 4,748 12,961 7,569 5,500

3. Property, plant and equipment

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows for 2018:

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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Figures in R `000

Carrying value 
at beginning of 

year Additions Disposals Depreciation

2018 Carrying 
value at end 

of year

Capitalised leased assets 1,009 34 - (505) 538

Carrying val-
ue at begin-
ning of year Additions Revaluation Disposals Depreciation

2018 Carrying 
value at end 

of year

Total 5,500 1,749 - (86) (2,415) 4,748

Carrying value 
at beginning 

of year Additions Disposals Depreciation

2017 Carrying 
value at end 

of year

Assets

Furniture and fittings 2,419 896 (183) (1,321) 1,811

Electronic hardware 408 9 - (268) 149

Office equipment 156 416 - (87) 485

Computer equipment 754 1,668 (147) (548) 1,727

3,737 2,989 (330) (2,224) 4,172

Carrying value 
at beginning 

of year
Additions Revaluation Disposals

2017 Carrying 
value at end 

of year

Paintings 265 - 54 319

Carrying value 
at beginning 

of year
Additions Disposals Depreciation

2017 Carrying 
value at end 

of year

Capitalised leased assets 35 1,490 - (516) - 1,009

Carrying value 
at beginning 

of year
Additions Revaluation Disposals Depreciation

2018 Carrying 
value at end 

of year

Total 4,037 4,479 54 (330) (2,740) 5,500

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows for 2017:

3. Property, plant and equipment (cont.)
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Figures in R `000  2018 2017

The HDA in terms of a directive received from the National Department of Human Settlements, had purchased various land and 
properties from Servcon. The land and properties are held for purposes of future Human Settlements developments.

4. Long-term land inventory

5. Land inventory

Land inventory - various 27,905 27,905

27,905 27,905

Land inventory - various

Land purchased comprises, at acquisition value:

Description

Erf 13120 Queenstown 3,540 3,540

Portion 237 of 78 farm Hartbeestpoort No.328JR 9,914 9,914

Portions 78, 89, 90, 151 Daspoort 319JR 7,158 7,158

Erf 10509 Cape Town 2,257 2,257

Erf farm 755/2 Michael Heyns-Swartland Cape Town 5,036 5,036

27,905 27,905

Property inventory, registered in the name of HDA comprises, at acquisition value :

Description

Portion 170 and portion 5 of Farm Roodeport 467 KR - Bela-Bela 65,400  65,400

Erf 1816 Bethlehem township 4,400 4,400

Erf 4919 Kroonstad Ext 30 township 3,300 3,300

Erf 5246 Kroonstad 1,733 1,733

Erf 229 Kroonstad 2,338 2,338

Ptn 37 of the farm Welkom 41 4,365 4,365

Erf 4049 Portion 20 Bethlehem 2,100 2,100

Farm 654 Portion 1 Bloemfontein 10,200 10,200

Erf 2116 Portion 3 Bloemfontein 2,500 2,500

Erven 17845, 243, 17847, 18093 and 17844 Knysna 1,700 1,700

Erf 3726 De Aar Township Northern Cape 10,000 -

Erf 635 De Aar Emthanjeni Municipality 7,700 -

Erf 3994, 4225 Modekloof KZN 7,000 -

122,736 98,036

The assets were acquired based on agreed protocols and carry a corresponding liability disclosed in Note 17.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

3. Property, plant and equipment (cont.)
Pledged as security

Except for leased assets, none of the assets above have been pledged as security or have restrictions on title.

The paintings are shown at fair value. These were evaluated in March 2017 by an independent valuer, Crouse Art. The valuation was 
done using market values. The next valuation is due in March 2020.
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Figures in R `000  2018 2017

6. Receivables from exchange transactions

The carrying amount of receivables approximates fair value.

Receivables 2,529 491

Sundry receivables 959 867

Deposits 1,232 352

4,720 1,710

7. Projects receivables

Eastern Cape Provincial Government 23,492 102,716

Ekurhululeni Metro Municipality 48,360 25,961

Limpopo Provincial Government - 6,040

Lonmin-Western Platinum Mining - 860

SANRAL - 328

Northern Cape Provincial Government - 12,000

Gauteng Provincial Government - 11,329

North West Provincial Government - 99,008

71,852 258,242

8. Cash and cash equivalents

HDA operations 11,977 2,671

Projects 2,362,488 706,170

Petty cash 50 56

2,374,515 708,897

9. Finance lease obligations

Lease of photocopiers and faxes with Konica Minolta 135 730

135 730

Repayable within one year, transferred to current liabilities 620 468

755 1,198

Reconciliation between the total of the minimum lease payments and the present 
value:

Minimum lease payments 875 1,563

- No later than 1 year 736 716

- Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 139  847

Future finance charges on finance leases (120) (365)

755 1,198
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Figures in R `000  2018 2017

10. Obligations under operating leases

Bloemfontein

The future minimum office lease payments, which escalate at 10% p.a are as follows:

- No later than 1 year 431 973

- Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 431 542

- 431

Cape Town

The future minimum office lease payments, which escalate at 9% p.a are as follows:

14,371 584

- No later than 1 year 2,678 584

- Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 11,693  -

Durban

The future minimum office lease payments, which escalate at 8% p.a are as follows:

35 451

- No later than 1 year 35 416

- Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years - 35

Johannesburg

The future minimum office lease payments, which escalate at 9% p.a are as follows:

9,357 2,998

- No later than 1 year 4,938 2,998

- Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 4,419  -

Port Elizabeth

The future minimum office lease payments, which escalate at 9% p.a are as follows:

- 1,181

- No later than 1 year - 1,181

- Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years - -

Polokwane

The future minimum office lease payments, which escalate at 9% p.a are as follows:

457 968

- No later than 1 year 457 511

- Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years - 457

24,651 7,155

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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Operational expenditure

- No later than 1 year 3,099 3,293

- Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 2,933  5,404

6,032  8,697 

These are contractual commitments that are related to professional services and operational commitments.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Figures in R `000  2018 2017

Lease terms and conditions per office Expiry date Lease term

Bloemfontein 31-Dec-18 3 years

Cape Town 31-Oct-22 5 years

Durban 30-Apr-18 3 years

Johannesburg 31-Jan-20 2 years

Port Elizabeth 31-Mar-18 3 years

Polokwane 31-Jan-19 3 years

Durban*

The future minimum office lease payments, which escalate at 8% p.a are as follows:

3,787  -

- No later than 1 year 579  -

- Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 3,208  -

Port Elizabeth*

The future minimum office lease payments, which escalate at 9% p.a are as follows:

5,867  -

- No later than 1 year 1,807  -

- Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 4,060  -

9,654  -

Lease terms and conditions per office Expiry date Lease term

Durban* 30-Apr-23 5 years

Port Elizabeth* 31-Mar-21 3 years

 
*The Durban office has renewed the lease agreement to a term ending 30 April 2023.
*The Port Elizabeth office has entered into a new lease agreement with a lease term ending 31 March 2021.

11. Commitments - obligations under operating leases

10. Obligations under operating leases (cont.)

12. Commitments - operations
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Payables 23,828 27,375

Employees leave payable* 10,180 -

34,008 27,375

*Employees leave payable has been reclassified to accounts payables.

Employees leave payable is reconciled as follows:

Carrying amount beginning of year 6,945 -

Increase in leave payable 3,648  -

Amounts incurred and charged against the leave account  (413)  -

Carrying amount at end of year 10,180 -

13. Payables from exchange transactions

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Provision for bonus 9,024  8,627

Employees leave payable -  6,945

9,024 15,572

Provision for bonus is reconciled as follows:

Carrying amount beginning of year 8,627 7,307

Increase in provision 9,481 5,461

Amounts incurred and charged against the provision (9,084) (4,141)

Carrying amount at end of year 9,024 8,627

Employees leave payables is reconciled as follows:

Carrying amount beginning of year - 5,164

Increase in leave payable - 2,650

Amounts incurred and charged against leave payable  - (869)

Carrying amount at end of year - 6,945

14. Provisions

The leave payable on termination is expected to realise during the 2019 financial year. The leave payable on termination was not 
discounted as the amount is already reflected at its present value at the reporting date. When the amount payable for leave is 
calculated it is based on the employees’ salary scales as at the reporting date, but when the payable amount realises during the 2019 
financial year, it may realise at the employees new salary scales as per the HDA Human Resources policy.

The provision for bonus is based on the employee’s performance. This is payable by September of each year.
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15. Projects Payables

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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Figures in R `000  2018 2017

Projects payables relates to contractors' invoices received for projects and not yet paid.

Payables 48,123  60,817

Catalytic projects -  19,451

Eastern Cape Provincial Government (10,639) (11,370)

Ekurhuleni Municipality 19,680 20,048

Free State Provincial Government 99,676 8,794

Gauteng Provincial Government 1,015,776 453,825

Kwazulu-Natal Provincial Government 40,920  7,645

Limpopo Provincial Government 318,982 225,561

Lwandle project 10,083 10,083

National Upgrading Support Programme - (169)

Northern Cape Provincial Government 98,217 43,591

North West Provincial Government 641,526 114,270

Western Cape Provincial Government 147,166 (2,072)

2,381,387 889,657

16. Projects obligations

Below is a reconciliation of each project obligation:

Catalytic projects

Opening balance 19,451  -

Cash received - 37,352

Interest earned - -

Amount owing - -

Expenditure (19,451) (17,901)

Closing balance - 19,451
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Figures in R `000  2018 2017
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16. Projects obligations (cont.)

Eastern Cape Provincial Government

Opening balance (11,370) 108,110

Cash received 67,151 146,833

Interest earned - 2,791

Amount owing 23,492 102,716

Expenditure (89,912) (371,820)

Closing balance (10,639) (11,370)

Ekurhuleni Municipality

Opening balance 20,048  -

Owing and received in current year  (25,961)  - 

Cash received 247,000 109,255

Interest earned 378 570

Amount owing 48,360 25,961

Expenditure (270,145) (115,738)

Closing balance 19,680 20,048

Free State Provincial Government

Opening balance 8,794 12,083

Cash received 107,183 21,900

Interest earned 173 16

Amount owing - -

Expenditure (16,474) (25,205)

Closing balance 99,676 8,794

Gauteng Provincial Government

Opening balance 453,825 209,303

Owing and received in current year (11,329)  - 

Cash received 858,400 352,913

Interest earned 35,887 22,345

Amount owing - 11,329

Expenditure (321,007) (142,065)

Closing balance 1,015,776  453,825
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Figures in R `000  2018 2017

Kwazulu-Natal Provincial Government

Opening balance 7,645 14,811

Cash received 59,963 -

Interest earned 312 -

Amount owing - -

Expenditure (27,000) (7,166)

Closing balance 40,920 7,645

Limpopo Provincial Government

Opening balance 225,561 101,565

Owing and received in current year (6,040) -

Cash received 260,867 318,081

Interest earned 9,494 3,720

Amount owing  -  6,040

Expenditure (170,900) (203,845)

Closing balance 318,982 225,561

Lwandle project

Opening balance 10,083 10,083

Cash received - -

Interest earned - -

Amount owing - - 

Expenditure - -

Closing balance 10,083 10,083

National Upgrading Support Programme(NUSP)

Opening balance (169) 1,707

Cash received 169 10,000

Interest earned - 43

Amount owing - -

Expenditure - (11,919)

Closing balance - (169)

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

16. Projects obligations (cont.)
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16. Projects obligations (cont.)
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Figures in R `000  2018 2017

Northern Cape Provincial Government

Opening balance 43,591 29,589

Owing and received in current year (12,000) -

Cash received 112,504 37,578

Interest earned 1,563 1,338

Amount owing - 12,000

Expenditure (47,441) (36,914)

Closing balance 98,217 43,591

North West Provincial Government

Opening balance 114,270 19,059

Owing and received in current year (99,008) -

Cash received 715,356 397

Interest earned 7,581 18

Amount owing -  99,008

Expenditure (96,673) (4,212)

Closing balance 641,526 114,270

Western Cape Provincial Government

Opening balance (2,072) 1,921

Cash received 180,046 14,679

Interest earned  -    -

Amount owing - -  

Expenditure (30,808) (18,672)

Closing balance 147,166 (2,072)

Properties held in trust 122,736 98,036

17. Land inventory obligation

The HDA acquired land and properties on behalf of other organs of state. The HDA is obliged to release the acquired land and 
properties based on signed agreements.



110ANNUAL REPORT 2017|2018

Figures in R `000  2018 2017
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Revenue from non-exchange transactions is made up as follows:

Operational grant - Department of Human Settlements 210,668 110,160

Operational grant -Section 29 projects Cape Town 31,200 18,998

Operational grant - Limpopo Provincial Government 14,634 17,571

Operational grant - Free State Provincial Government 14,694 11,174

Operational grant - Northern Cape Provincial Government 4,343 3,610

Operational grant - Catalytic projects 19,451 20,647

Operational grant - NUSP - 9,171

Operational grant - North West Provincial Government 16,107 3,818

Operational grant - Kwazulu-Natal Provincial Government 27,000 7,166

338,097 202,315

Eastern Cape Provincial Government 1,486 12,402

Ekurhuleni municipality 12,402 5,511

Northern Cape Provincial Government 3,053 1,102

Limpopo Provicial Government - 2,127

Gauteng Provincial Government - 1,963

16,941 23,280

Insurance 86 82

Maintenance costs 1,694 1,368

Conveyancing and valuation costs 4,277 2,768

Projects operational contractors 2,631 5,112

Development planning and feasibility studies 640 846

9,328 10,176

18. Revenue from non-exchange transactions- Operational grants

19. Revenue from exchange transactions-Project management fees

Management fees are earned as per agreements signed between the HDA and relevant organs of state.
 

20. Land and related costs
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Figures in R `000  2018 2017

21. Operational expenses

Accounting other services 1,375 1,091

Advertising and marketing 3,289 2,203

Agency support - outsourcing 2,024 2,501

Membership fees 58 50

Assets below R5 000 expensed 477 297

Auditors remuneration 1,986 1,919

Bad debts 215 -

Bank charges 156 79

Board costs 998 750

Catering 1,146 1,475

Communications 860 888

Computer expenses 4,032 3,947

Consultants 6,052 5,046

Contractors - operational 5,298 2,870

Depreciation 2,415 2,741

Insurance 352 335

Leasing charges 955 910

Legal fees 3,611 1,083

Office rentals 8,768 10,440

Penalties - 4

Printing, publications and stationery 1,552 1,421

Repairs and maintenance 120 305

Repairs - office refurbishment - 238

Research and publication - 82

Staff recruitment 4,136 5,845

Staff welfare 246 181

Other office expenses 1,166 1,894

Temporary staff 3,923  -

Training and staff development 1,697 1,017

Travel and accommodation 14,997 11,907

71,904 61,519

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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Technical services 128,560 59,599

Project support services 1,386 5

129,946 59,604

Basic salary 118,732 94,956

Performance awards 9,544 7,313

Temporary staff - 1,350

Leave payment 3,648 2,520

Allowances 3,195 2,667

Employer's contributions 13,182 8,885

Other payroll expenses - COID 247 143

148,548 117,834

Rental income 2,315 2,044

Insurance claims 44 30

Tender document fees and other income 179 3,407

2,538 5,481

Figures in R `000  2018 2017

24. Sundry income

25. Executive and senior management remuneration

2018

Executive members

Basic salary Bonus

Pension/ 
provident 

fund
Risk  

benefits Allowances Total

PP Moloi-Chief Executive Officer 3,255 316 375 52 30 4,028

APG Soares-Chief Financial Officer 2,207 225 187 35 21 2,675

MD Mnisi-Executive: Strategic Support 1,701 168 144 27 30 2,070

MB George-Executive: Development
Management and Operations

1,372 86 179 25 30 1,692

Total executive management 
remuneration

8,535 795 885 139 111 10,465

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

22. Project services

23. Employee costs
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2017

Executive Management 

Basic salary Bonus

Pension/ 
provident 

fund
Risk  

benefits Allowances Total

PP Moloi-Chief Executive Officer 3,024 - 336 57 30 3,447

APG Soares-Chief Financial Officer 2,044  - 173 38 21 2,276

MD Mnisi-Executive: Strategic
Support

1,577 - 133 29 30 1,769

MB George-Executive: Development
Management and Operations

842 - 94 16 17 969

Total executive management
remuneration

7,487 - 736 140 98 8,461

25. Executive and senior management remuneration (continued)

2018

Senior Management

Basic salary Bonus

Pension/ 
provident 

fund
Risk  

benefits Allowances Total

R Issel-Head: Corporate support 1,959 202 166 31 21 2,379

JB Minnie - Head: Business
information systems

1,564 150 32 25 30 1,901

LS Rakgoale - RM: Region B 1,560 139 132 25 30 1,886

BM Khoza - RM: Region A 1,668 160 141 26 30 2,025

MJ Mphahlele - Head:  
Built Environment

1,556 104 179 25 30 1,894

N Mlotshwa - RM: Region C 1,560 97 180 25 30 1,892

W Steenkamp - Head: Strategic Initiatives 2,328 214 268 37 30 2,877

D Ngoasheng - Head: National
Prorgramme and Design Management

1,816 56 153 28 30 2,083

Total senior management  
remuneration

14,011 1,122 1,351 222 231 16,937

Total 22,546 1,917 2,236 361 342 27,402

Figures in R `000

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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Figures in R `000  2018 2017

2017

Senior Management

Basic salary Bonus

Pension/ 
provident 

fund
Risk  

benefits Allowances Total

OJ Crofton-GM: Land and Housing
Support Services (terminated 6 May 
2016) 666 - 30 6 5 707

R Issel-Head: Corporate support 1,813 - 153 33 21 2,020

JB Minnie-Head: Business information 
systems 1,452 - 123 27 30 1,632

LS Rakgoale-RM: Region B 1,452  - 123 27 30 1,632

BM Khoza-RM: Region A 1,549 - 131 29 30 1,739

MJ Mphahlele-Head: Built Environment 
(from 1 August 2016) 962 - 107 18  20 1,107

N Mlotshwa-RM: Region C 
(from 1 August 2016)

843 - 93 16 17 969

Total senior management 
remuneration 8,737  - 760 156 153 9,806

Total 16,224 - 1,496 296 251 18,267

Non- executive members of the accounting authority

M Msimang (Chairperson) 94 104

TS Songelwa 127 94

PA Singh 124 75

ME Mutheiwana 124 88

LC Archary - 9

T Botha 82 -

MH Mpahlwa 77 -

Total non-executive members 628 370

Co-opted specialists of the accounting authority

SAH Kajee 9 15

PT Phili 35 18

SY Boulton 25 19

Total co-opted specialists
Total

69
697

52
422

This represents the total cost to company, the choice of salary structure is that of the employee.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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25. Executive and senior management remuneration (continued)

26. Non-executive members and Co-opted specialists remuneration
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Net surplus 2,808 (13,712)

Adjustment for:

Depreciation 2,415 2,741

Interest received (5,295) (4,679)

Deficit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 86 44

Assets below R5000 that were capitalised - 286

Interest paid 251 292

265  (15,028)

Movements in working capital (2,925) 5,179

Increase in payables 6,633 3,050

(Decrease) increase in provisions (6,548) 3,100

Increase in receivables (3,010) (971)

Cash utilised in operations (2,660)  (9,849)

27. Cash generated/(utilised) from operations

28. Contingent liabilities

  Labour court dispute involving an ex-employee. The matter has not been finalised by the labour court. No provision was raised as    
  the outcome of the case is unknown.

The following accounts have been reclassified. Leave payable was reclassified to 
accounts payables and temporary staff to operating expenses in the current year.

Leave payable 10,180

Temporary staff 3,923

Operational commitments were not reported in the prior financial year due to differences in the intrepretation of GRAP1.

Amounts disclosed relating to the prior year 8,697

29. Comparative figures

During the year, the HDA entered into the following transactions:

Operational grant received
Amounts owed by the 

related party at year-end

2018             2017 2018         2017

National Department of Human Settlements 210,668       157,512 -                    -

30. Related party transactions

By virtue of the HDA being a national public entity, it is presumed that all other government entities within the national sphere are 
related to it. However, only transactions that occurred outside the normal terms available to the broader public are disclosed in 
accordance with IPSAS 20: Related Party Disclosures.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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Figures in R `000  2018 2017

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Opening balance 196 -

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure - current year 22 196

Less amounts condoned (218) -

Closing balance - 196

Amount transferred to incorrect bank account and not recovered. 22

Irregular expenditure

Opening balance 971  -

Irregular expenditure - current year 9,363  971

Less amounts condoned (10,334) -

Irregular expenditure awaiting condonation - 971

Total - 1,167

31. Irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Supply Chain Management oversight. The matter was subsequently corrected.
Irregular expenditure was condoned by the Board who has authority in accordance with Section 21 of the HDA Act 23
of 2008.

32. Financial risk management

The HDA, in the course of normal operations, has limited exposure to the financial risks, e.g liquidity risks, credit risks and interest 
rate risks. However, the HDA attempts to manage the following financial risks:

Liquidity risks
Liquidity risk refers to the risk that sufficient liquidity is not available when required. The goal of the entity is to maintain adequate 
liquidity at all times.

The HDA is exposed to liquidity risk only with regards to the payment of its payables. The payables are all due within a short time. 
The HDA manages its liquidity risk by holding sufficient cash in its bank account, supplemented by cash available in a money market 
account.

The HDA manages liquidity risk according to its investment policy and working capital management, expenditure versus forecasted 
cash flows. The amount of cash invested in call deposits of 30 days, 60 days and 90 days is guided by the projected future cash 
requirements.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
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Figures in R `000  2018 2017

Financial risk management (cont.)

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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Payables

Not past due 66,662 79,638

Past due 60 days - 670

Past due 90 days 114 4,174

Finance lease obligations

Projected repayment - less than 1 year 620 468

Projected repayment- 31 March 2019 135 730

Receivables

Not past due 47,437 221,735

Past due 60 days 6,954 1,986

Past due 90 days 18,568 35,552

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The entity is only exposed to 
interest rate risk. See cash and cash equivalents below.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk results from the cash flow and financial performance uncertainty arising from interest rate fluctuations. Financial 
assets and liabilities affected by interest rate fluctuations include bank and cash deposits.

This is a risk that fair value or future cash flows from financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in the market interest 
rates. Values in the financial instruments may change, thus resulting in both potential gains and losses. The HDA’s activities do not 
expose it to significant market interest rate risks. Therefore, there are no procedures in place to mitigate these risks.

Cash in the bank account is kept at a minimum in order to maximise interest earned on cash.

The HDA has invested any surplus cash in a short-term money market account. The interest rates on this account fluctuates in line 
with movements in current money market rates.

Credit Risk

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade debtors. The HDA 
deposits cash only with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any other counter party.

The HDA receives grant funding from the government through the National Department of Human Settlements, therefore, its 
exposure to credit risk is minimal.

Receivables

The receivables are exposed to a low risk and amounts overdue are owing by other government institutions and are
recoverable.

The maturity analysis of payables at reporting date were as follows:
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Figures in R `000

Financial risk management (cont.)
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Cash and Cash equivalents

Cash and deposits are regarded as having insignificant credit risk. The balances of cash and cash equivalents are as follows:

Bank Type Interest rate %
Balance as at 31 

March 2018
Balance as at 

31 March 2017

First National Bank Current account 5.5 22,060 2,671

First National Bank Commercial Nstd Call 5.8 215,251  89,199

First National Bank Commercial Money Market 6.65 648,423 57,167

Standard bank Money Market Call 6.5 567,646 237,365

Standard bank Current account 5.5 152 147

Nedbank Current account 5.5 404 405

Nedbank Just Invest 7 - 310

Nedbank Money trader 6.75 918,125 318,539

Stanlib Extra Income ABIL Retention 
Fund

6.5 2,404 3,038

Cash Cash - 50 56

2,374,515 708,897 

Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Receivables and sundry receivables 3,785 917

Bursaries paid in advance 935  793

Financial liabilities by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Payables and other payables 34,008 27,375

Designated income received in advance 2,381,387 889,657
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Revenue

Grants received 338,097 202,315

Grant received from the National Department of Human Settlements 210,668 110,160

Operational grant - Catalytic projects 19,451 20,647

Operational grant - Free State 14,694 11,174

Operational grant - Kwazulu Natal 27,000 7,166

Operational grant - Limpopo 14,634 17,571

Operational grant - North West 16,107 3,818

Operational grant - Northern Cape 4,343 3,610

Operational grant - NUSP - 9,171

Operational grant -Section 29 projects 31,200 18,998

Project management fees 16,941 23,280

Gross revenue 355,038 225,595

Other Income

Interest income 5,295 4,679

Sundry income 2,538 5,481

7,833 10,160

362,871 235,755

Unaudited Statement of Financial Performance
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Detailed Statement of Financial Performance
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Expenditure

Accounting other services 1,375 1,091

Advertising and marketing 3,289 2,203

Agency Support- Outsourcing 2,024 2,501

Assets under R5 000 477 297

Auditors remuneration 1,986 1,919

Bad debts 215  -

Bank charges 156 79

Board costs( fees and travel) 998 750

Catering 1,146 1,475

Communications 860 888

Computer expenses 4,032 3,947

Consultants 6,052 5,046

Consultants - technical 129,946 59,604

Contractors- operational 5,298 2,870

Deficit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 86 44

Depreciation - property, plant and equipment 2,415 2,741

Finance costs 251 290

Insurance 352 335

Land & related costs 9,328 10,176

Leasing Charges 955 910

Legal fees 3,611 1,083

Membership fees 58 50

Office rentals 8,768 10,440

Other office expenses 1,166 1,894

Penalty - 4

Printing, publications and stationery 1,552 1,421

Repairs and maintenance 120 305

Repairs refurbishment - offices - 238

Research and publications - 82

Salaries 148,548 117,834

Staff recruitment 4,136 5,845

Staff welfare 246 181

Temporary staff 3,923 -

Training and staff development 1,697 1,017

Travel and accommodation 14,997 11,907

360,063 249,467

Surplus /(deficit) for the year 2,808 (13,712)

Unaudited Statement of Financial Performance
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018


